Appetitive Learning Paradigm for Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) in their Home Tanks Utilising Visual or Olfactory Cues

by

Jillian Marie Doyle

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia August 2017

© Copyright by Jillian Marie Doyle, 2017

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my fiancé, Anthony Edmonds for all his love and support but also his assistance with apparatus modifications, visits to the hardware store, mathematical equations and grammatical corrections.

I would also like to dedicate this thesis to my sister, Christina Doyle for all her moral support and help with fish tracking, coding and corrections.

LIST OF FIGURESviii
ABSTRACTix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USEDx
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSxii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1.1 ZEBRAFISH AS A MODEL ORGANISM1
1.2 IMPORTANCE OF LEARNING PARADIGMS
1.3 FACTORS TO CONSIDER WHEN USING ZEBRAFISH FOR LEARNING STUDIES4
1.4 EXPLORING SENSORY MODALITIES
1.5 VISUAL LEARNING PARADIGM7
1.5.1 Objectives
1.6 OLFACTORY LEARNING PARADIGM7
1.6.1 Objectives
CHAPTER 2: VISUAL LEARNING PARADIGM9
2.1 VISUAL INTRODUCTION9
2.1.1 Zebrafish as a model for vision9
2.1.2 Assessing function through behaviour9
2.1.3 Factors to consider when using visual paradigms 10

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.1.4 Current visual learning paradigms11
2.1.5 Benefits of a home tank paradigm12
2.1.6 Summary 13
2.2 MATERIALS & METHODS 14
2.2.1 Animals 14
2.2.2 Experimental apparatus14
2.2.3 Conditioning17
2.2.4 Probe trials17
2.2.5 Data collection and analysis18
2.3 VISUAL CONDITIONING RESULTS 21
2.3.1 Acquisition of appetitive conditioning21
2.3.2 Memory retention for groups of fish22
2.3.3 Memory retention for individual fish 22
2.4 SUMMARY
CHAPTER 3: OLFACTORY LEARNING PARADIGM 29
3.1 INTRODUCTION
3.1.1 Zebrafish are important models for olfaction
3.1.2 Assessing function through behaviour
3.1.3 Technical problems with olfactory paradigms

3.1.4 Current olfactory paradigms	
3.1.5 Benefits of a home tank olfactory paradigm	32
3.1.6 Summary	33
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.2.1 Animals	
3.2.2 Experimental apparatus	
3.2.3 Water delivery	36
3.2.4 Conditioning	
3.2.5 Water only trial	40
3.2.6 Probe trials	40
3.2.7 Data collection and analysis	40
3.3 RESULTS	44
3.3.1 Acquisition of appetitive conditioning	
3.3.2 Response to water only trial	
3.4 SUMMARY	49
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	50
4.1 SUMMARY	50
4.1.1 Visual learning paradigm	50
4.1.2 Olfactory learning paradigm	50

4.2 CONDITIONING	51
4.3 RATE OF AQUISITION	53
4.4 RETENTION	56
4.5 FUTURE IMPROVEMENTS	57
4.5.1 Improvements in Visual Paradigm	57
4.5.2 Improvements in Olfactory Paradigm	57
4.6 IMPLICATIONS	59
4.6.1 Applications of these paradigms	59
4.6.2 Juveniles	59
4.6.3 Physiological study	60
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	62
REFERENCES	63
APPENDIX A: SUPPLEMENTAL MOVIES	80
APPENDIX B: ARDUINO SKETCHES FOR CONDITIONING AND RETENTION	81
B.1: VISUAL CONDITIONING DAY ONE	81
B.2: VISUAL CONDITIONING DAY TWO	83
B.3: VISUAL CONTROL DAY ONE	85
B.4: VISUAL CONTROL DAY TWO	87
B.5: VISUAL RETENTION	89

B.6: OLFACTORY CONDITIONING DAY ONE/ TWO (CONDITIONING & CONTROL) 91
B.7: WATER ONLY TRIAL
B.8: OLFACTORY RETENTION
APPENDIX C: STATISTICAL ANALYSIS FOR VISUAL PARADIGM
C.1: VISUAL ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – MOVEMENT
TOWARDS FOOD
C.2: VISUAL ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – VERTICAL
MOVEMENT 100
C.3: VISUAL ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – HORIZONTAL
MOVEMENT 102
C.4: VISUAL GROUP RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – MOVEMENT TOWARDS
FOOD 104
C.5: VISUAL GROUP RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – VERTICAL MOVEMENT 104
C.6: VISUAL GROUP RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT . 104
C.7: VISUAL INDIVIDUAL RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – MOVEMENT
TOWARDS FOOD
C.8: VISUAL INDIVIDUAL RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – VERTICAL
MOVEMENT 104
C.9 : VISUAL INDIVIDUAL RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – HORIZONTAL
MOVEMENT

APPENDIX D: STASTISTICAL ANALYSIS FOR OLFACTORY PARADIGM 106
D.1: OLFACTORY ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – MOVEMENT
TOWARDS FOOD
D.2: OLFACTORY ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – VERTICAL
MOVEMENT
D.3: OLFACTORY ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – HORIZONTAL
MOVEMENT110
D.4: OLFACTORY WATER TRIAL – T-TEST – MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD 112
D.5: OLFACTORY WATER TRIAL – T-TEST – VERTICAL MOVEMENT
D.6: OLFACTORY WATER TRIAL – T-TEST – HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT
D.7: OLFACTORY GROUP RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – MOVEMENT
TOWARDS FOOD 113
D.8: OLFACTORY GROUP RETENTION -TWO-WAY ANOVA – VERTICAL MOVEMENT. 114
D.9: OLFACTORY GROUP RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – HORIZONTAL
MOVEMENT114
APPENDIX E: DILUTION CALCULATION
APPENDIX F: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Diagram of behavioural apparatus for visual conditioning in home tanks 15
Figure 2.2: Panels A and B illustrate the position of control and experimental zebrafish respectively during trial 20, 20 s before and during the presentation of visual stimulus
Figure 2.3: Movement of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of a visual appetitive paradigm
Figure 2.4: Horizontal movements of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of a visual appetitive paradigm
Figure 2.5: Vertical movements of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of a visual appetitive paradigm
Figure 3.1: Diagram of behavioural apparatus for olfactory conditioning in home tanks
Figure 3.2: Theoretical calculation of phenylethyl alcohol (PEA) dilution delivery to the tank
Figure 3.3: Average position of groups (n=44) in experimental and control tanks over the last pairing trial (Trial 20)
Figure 3.4: Movement of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of an olfactory appetitive paradigm
Figure 3.5: Horizontal movements of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of an olfactory appetitive paradigm
Figure 3.6: Vertical movements of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of a olfactory appetitive paradigm

ABSTRACT

A visual or olfactory stimulus (green light or phenylethyl alcohol) was presented to groups of adult zebrafish in their home tanks. An automatic feeder dispensed food immediately after the conditioned stimuli (CS), or at variable delays for controls. Fish showed anticipatory movement towards the food dispensing area after as few as 7-10 trials, learning that the CS was a predictor of food presentation at the water surface. Memories of the conditioned association persisted at least 2 days after training when fish were again presented with the CS. Control fish, for which the visual or olfactory stimuli were unpaired with food, showed no response when exposed to the CS. This simple, low-cost, automated system permits scalable conditioning of zebrafish with minimal human intervention, greatly reducing both variability and labour-intensiveness. It will be useful for studies of the neural basis of learning and memory, and for highthroughput screening of compounds modifying those processes.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

ΔΑΙΟ	Change in Akaike information criterion
°C	Degrees Celsius
%	Percent
3D	Three-dimensional
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
cm	Centimeter
CS	Conditioned stimulus
dpf	Days post-fertilisation
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FM	Frequency modulated
fps	Frames per Second
h	Hour
hrs	Hours
Hz	Hertz
hpf	Hours post-fertilisation
LED	Light-emitting diode
L	Litre
mg	Milligram
mL	Millilitre
mm	Millimetre
min	Minute

- pERK Phosphorylated extracellular signal-related kinase
- psu Practical Salinity Units
- ROI Region of Interest
- sec Seconds
- S.E.M Standard error of mean
- UCS Unconditioned Stimulus
- UV Ultraviolet

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to acknowledge the funding that made this research possible: the Alexander Graham Bell Canada Graduate Scholarship-Master's from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) and the Nova Scotia Graduate Entrance Scholarship from the Government of Nova Scotia.

This project would not have been possible without the support and encouragement of my supervisors, Dr. Roger Croll and Dr. Alan Fine. I'm especially grateful for their guidance and allowing me use of their labs, equipment, and time.

Acknowledgement and thanks also goes to my committee members, Drs. Younes Anini, Robert Rose, Simon Gadbois, Patrice Côté, Päivi Torkkeli, and Steven Barnes, for their feedback and assistance in this project.

I am thankful for all those who helped me with lab techniques and technical concerns: Dr. Matthew Stoyek, Dr. Arnaud Gaudin and Len Edmonds. I also wish to extend my thanks and appreciation to my lab-mates, Neil Merovitch, Alexia Scaros, Anna Semaniakou and Griffin Beach for their support and helpful comments.

Thanks are also due to everyone who assisted me with data collection: Juyang Long, Emma Finlayson-Trick, Charlotte Nauss, Setareh Lahsaee, Megan Crosby, Emma Neilson, Stephanie Shewchuk, Remington Manchester, Nicole Pickett. Special thanks to Omar Sickander for his assistance with the olfactory experiments.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my family, for their love and continued support in all my endeavours.

xii

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 ZEBRAFISH AS A MODEL ORGANISM

Zebrafish are providing increasing opportunities as models for scientific research. They share similar developmental and physiological processes and homologous genes with higher vertebrates, making for a less complex model to study more complicated mammalian systems (Bally-Cuif & Vernier 2010). Zebrafish are also small, have a high fecundity and are easy to maintain, making them well suited to high-throughput studies (Sumbre & de Polavieja 2014; Traver et al. 2003; Lee et al. 2007; Laughlin et al. 2008; Lawson 2002; Patton & Zon 2002). Larval zebrafish and some mutant strains are largely transparent, allowing their internal structures to be visible (White et al. 2008), also making them an excellent choice for *in vivo* optical imaging of electrical activity and optogenetic activation or inhibition of sets of neurons (Sumbre & de Polavieja 2014).

In addition to the benefits of various strains and general maintenance, zebrafish also possess a wide range of well documented behaviours, which in combination with the aforementioned characteristics make them suitable for studies in which behaviour is altered (Kalueff et al. 2013). In fact, zebrafish have become a popular model for examining the effects of various drugs on behaviour. For example, zebrafish are used to study addiction and withdrawal with alcohol or cocaine and also as model to examine the effects of hallucinogens on neurochemistry (Gerlai et al. 2009; Gerlai et al. 2000; Lockwood et al. 2004; Tran et al. 2016; Darland & Dowling 2001; López Patiño et al. 2008; Grossman et al. 2010; Kyzar et al. 2012; Cachat et al. 2013). Studies that use zebrafish as a behavioural model often rely on learning paradigms to examine how

certain substances or conditions affect the fish's ability to learn and remember associations (Chacon & Luchiari 2014; Levin & Chen 2004).

1.2 IMPORTANCE OF LEARNING PARADIGMS

Using a variety of learning paradigms, it is possible to determine the basic abilities of zebrafish to learn associations. For example, several studies on the visual capabilities of zebrafish have determined that they could detect and distinguish between different colours and shapes (Colwill et al. 2005; Fetsko 2003). In one study, fish were successfully trained to associate one colour or shape with food and could correctly identify it when given a choice between the familiar and the unfamiliar colour or shape (Colwill et al. 2005). Similarly, several olfactory experiments used learning paradigms to determine that zebrafish and other species can discriminate between certain amino acids. Catfish were conditioned to associate L-amino acids with food and then exposed to an unconditioned amino acid. Fish exhibited increased food searching behaviour when exposed to the conditioned amino acid but not when exposed to the unconditioned ones; however, the catfish required multiple pairings to distinguish between similar amino acids (Miklavc & Valentinčič 2012; Valentinčič et al. 1994; Valentinčič et al. 2000).

In addition to imparting important information about the detection and discrimination abilities of animals, learning paradigms can help examine the genetic effects on cognition. Zebrafish are already used as models for studying the cognitive decline associated with age (Yu et al. 2006; Paquet et al. 2010). The use of transgenic strains, like those that approximate the cellular aggregates found in Alzheimer's Disease

and other tauopathies, allow experimenters to use zebrafish as models of disease states (Kalueff et al. 2014; Rubinstein 2003; Newman et al. 2014; Gerlai 2012; Paquet et al. 2010). There are even models in development for other cognitive disorders such as schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorder (Gerlai 2012; Tropepe & Sive 2003; Stewart et al. 2014). These models could be used in conjunction with learning paradigms to examine the effects that these diseases have on the ability to learn and retain associations.

Learning paradigms can also be used to explore the underlying processes governing learning and memory. Most of these learning paradigms, developed for use with rodents, have provided important insight into the regions of the brain and the neurotransmitters involved in mammalian learning and memory retrieval (Jarrard 1993; Morris 2008; McClelland et al. 1995; Owen et al. 1997; Hyman et al. 2006; Myhrer 2003; Johansen et al. 2011; Blokland 1996; Ammassari-Teule & Caprioli 1985; Maurice et al. 1996). Learning paradigms for zebrafish have also been successful in examining the underlying mechanisms of learning. For instance, experiments have found that nicotine exposure improved zebrafish performance at learning tasks when compared to a control group (Eddins et al. 2009; Levin et al. 2006). Learning paradigms have also been used extensively to examine the retrieval of learned associations in zebrafish. Several studies have determined that MK-801, an N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist, can block retrieval of a learned association when administered after conditioning (Blank et al. 2009; Sison & Gerlai 2011). Some studies suggest that the formation of memories can also be blocked by MK-801 exposure prior to training (Cognato et al. 2012), but that

finding is contentious, as other studies have been unsuccessful at blocking memory formation with pre-exposure to MK-801 (Dix et al. 2010; Castellano et al. 2001). Regardless, the demonstrated role of MK-801 suggests that memory retrieval is glutamate mediated, a finding that is consistent with studies of other vertebrates (Sweatt 2010). Other studies further explored the role of the cholinergic system by examining induced learning impairments in zebrafish caused by the anti-nausea medication, scopolamine, a cholinergic blocker. Using the zebrafish, they found that these impairments could be prevented by pre-treatment with the flavonol, quercetin or the cholinesterase inhibitor, physostigmine, indicating the importance of acetylcholine in learning (Kim et al. 2010; Richetti et al. 2011). To more effectively explore learning and the various methods by which it can be effected in zebrafish, these types of studies require simple but robust learning paradigms.

1.3 FACTORS TO CONSIDER WHEN USING ZEBRAFISH FOR LEARNING STUDIES

Various factors must be taken into account when adapting learning paradigms for zebrafish. One of the most important is selection of the unconditioned stimulus (UCS). As with conditioning in other animals, paradigms use either an aversive or attractive stimulus. Several studies use changes in tank lighting, as a conditioned stimulus (CS), paired with electric shock, as an aversive UCS. Such a pairing is highly effective but has undesirable consequences because unlike electric shock applied to mammals, it is difficult to localize in an aqueous milieu and must be applied to an entire tank (Pradel et al. 1999; Gleason et al. 1977; Agetsuma et al. 2012; Blank et al. 2009). A generalized electric shock may disrupt normal physiological processes and thereby

confound elicited behavioural responses and analyses (Gerlai 2011). Conversely, studies that use positive reinforcement usually consist of a food reward. One major drawback of using a food reward is that fish may become satiated and therefore may ignore the UCS upon repeated presentation (Sison & Gerlai 2011; Al-Imari & Gerlai 2008). This factor must be taken into account when determining the amount of food reward and the number of pairings per day.

Another major factor to consider is the apparatus in which the fish are conditioned. Introducing fish to a specialized apparatus needed for certain paradigms requires long periods of acclimation. Furthermore, the increased handling necessary to transport fish has been shown to cause increased cortisol levels, which could change behaviour and interfere with results (Ramsay et al. 2009). Zebrafish are shoaling animals and often exhibit anxious behaviours when isolated (Engeszer et al. 2007), so testing fish individually may also contribute to higher stress levels (Sison & Gerlai 2011; Braubach et al. 2009; Blank et al. 2009; Al-Imari & Gerlai 2008). Therefore, a paradigm that conditions zebrafish in groups may garner a truer response from the fish, with the added advantage of training more fish in a shorter period of time, making it beneficial for high-throughput screening (Braubach et al. 2011; Wyeth et al. 2011).

1.4 EXPLORING SENSORY MODALITIES

Many paradigms focus on the ability of the zebrafish to navigate using visible cues because they are highly visual animals (Easter & Nicola 1996; Neuhauss 2010), but other paradigms focus on olfaction (Doyle et al. 2017; Valentinčič et al. 2000; Braubach et al. 2009), and our lab has recently developed a robust, auditory appetitive learning

paradigm for conditioning zebrafish (Doyle et al. 2017; Merovitch 2016; Merovitch et al. 2016).

The auditory conditioning paradigm presented by Doyle et al (2017) and Merovitch (2016) was robust, very effective and suitable for high throughput. Groups of five fish were conditioned in their home tank, which reduced handling stress common to other paradigms (See Section 1.3 – Factors to consider when using zebrafish for learning studies). Continual frequency modulated (FM) tone sweeps (100-1000-100 Hz) acted as the CS and were paired with a food reward (UCS) ten times daily for two days. The entire system was automated to minimize experimenter intervention and ensure precise amounts of food are presented. A camera recorded the behaviour before and during presentation of the CS, then software was used to track horizontal and vertical positions of the fish. From those data, the net movement of the fish towards the food source was calculated and those scores were then compared to the movement of a control group which experienced an auditory cue unpaired with the food reward. The experimental group exhibited fast, efficient learning by the 5th pairing of the auditory stimulus and food reward.

The experiment also examined the ability of the fish to retain the learned association. Probe trials were conducted with groups of fish at 2 and 16 days after conditioning, then with individual fish at 2, 4, 8, 16 and 32 days after conditioning. The fish retained the association for at least two days when tested in groups or as individuals, and then the strength of the association declined over the next month. **Due**

to the success of the auditory paradigm, the aim of this thesis is to determine whether the paradigm could be adapted to use visual or olfactory cues.

1.5 VISUAL LEARNING PARADIGM

Zebrafish possess excellent vision systems, so a visible conditioned cue should represent a particularly salient stimulus (Fleisch & Neuhauss 2006; Easter & Nicola 1996; Neuhauss 2010). Therefore, Chapter 2 will focus on adaptation of the paradigm to use a visual cue. The factors that were considered when choosing the visual stimulus will be fully discussed in Section 2.1.3 – Factors to consider when using visual paradigms.

1.5.1 Objectives

- Adapt an existing auditory learning paradigm (Doyle et al. 2017; Merovitch 2016) to use a salient visual cue (green LED) as the conditioned stimulus.
- Use the adapted paradigm to examine the rate of acquisition of the association.
- Determine if zebrafish retain the memory of the association in groups with probe trials at 2 and 16 days, but also as individuals at 2, 4, 8, 16 and 32 days.

1.6 OLFACTORY LEARNING PARADIGM

Chapter 3 focuses on adapting the paradigm to use an olfactory cue as the CS. Using olfactory cues, especially in an aqueous environment, presents unique challenges not encountered with visual or auditory stimuli. It is necessary for the fish to encounter the olfactory cue in a concentration that is above their threshold of detection. Due to the imprecise nature of odourant dispersal, many hyper-concentrated regions may exist temporarily, even if the final mixed concentration is not above the detection threshold of the zebrafish. It is also necessary to achieve washout, lowering the concentration of odour below the detection threshold subsequent to each pairing. When a paradigm involves multiple pairings, it is particularly important to achieve washout well before subsequent pairings. Due to these specific requirements, olfactory paradigms require a greater volume of water than other paradigms. All of the obstacles associated with olfactory stimuli will be fully discussed in Section 3.1.3 – Technical problems with olfactory paradigms.

1.6.1 Objectives

- Develop a robust olfactory paradigm to condition groups of adult zebrafish in their home tanks.
- Determine the rate of acquisition of the learned association.
- Examine the duration of the learned association by performing probe trials 6-7 days and 13-14 days after training.

CHAPTER 2: VISUAL LEARNING PARADIGM

2.1 VISUAL INTRODUCTION

2.1.1 Zebrafish as a model for vision

Vision is critical for the survival of zebrafish; it is used for food detection, predator avoidance and identification of conspecifics (other zebrafish) (Easter & Nicola 1996). An obvious indicator of the importance vision is the disproportionately large eye size in zebrafish larvae (Fleisch & Neuhauss 2006). The zebrafish visual system develops very early, so that the fish can evade predators and capture food (Neuhauss 2010). For example, the visual startle response develops by 70 hours post fertilisation (hpf), and by 72 hpf the eye and lens are emmetropic, meaning that they gain the ability to focus (Easter & Nicola 1996; Neuhauss 2010).

Zebrafish are a popular visual model because their visual system is similar in organization to higher vertebrates but is much less complex (Bilotta & Saszik 2001). In addition, the zebrafish retina possesses similar cell types and layering as other vertebrate retinas (Hitchcock & Raymond 2004; Fleisch & Neuhauss 2006). The zebrafish retina is capable of regeneration after injury, even in adult animals, which makes it popular for studies examining ocular damage (Fleisch & Neuhauss 2006; Hitchcock & Raymond 2004).

2.1.2 Assessing function through behaviour

As stated in Chapter 1, transgenic and mutant zebrafish strains are extensively used for research on a wide variety of topics. Several strains exist that emulate specific eye deficits or diseases, such as glaucoma or retinal degeneration (Stujenske et al. 2011; Penberthy et al. 2002; Goldsmith 2001). However, the severity of the deficits may be difficult to determine because even though zebrafish rely heavily upon vision, they can navigate using other senses (Burgess et al. 2010; Ghysen & Dambly-Chaudiere 2004). Conversely, transgenic or mutant strains may be used to study another aspect of zebrafish physiology or anatomy but may have unwanted visual deficits that prevent the fish from being used in a particular paradigm (Brockerhoff et al. 1995, 1998; Neuhauss et al. 1999; Gross et al. 2005; Muto et al. 2005). For example, the sleepy (sly) mutant expresses notochord and brain defects, but it would be difficult to examine the effect of these defects on behaviour because they also possess a visual deficit that affects their mobility (Neuhauss 2003). Learning paradigms that rely on vision can be useful in determining the fish's visual acuity, as fish with severe visual deficits will not be able to see a light cue or successfully associate a shape with an unconditioned stimulus (UCS).

2.1.3 Factors to consider when using visual paradigms

The majority of existing learning paradigms for zebrafish focus on visual cues as either the conditioned stimulus (CS), the UCS or sometimes both (Fleisch & Neuhauss 2006; Colwill et al. 2005; Arthur & Levin 2001; Mueller & Neuhauss 2012). Choice of the UCS is important, as each has its benefits and drawbacks. Aversive stimuli, such as the sight of a predator or electric shock, are effective but can cause stress for the fish (Xu et al. 2007; Agetsuma et al. 2012; Blank et al. 2009; Gerlai et al. 2009; Gerlai 2011). Conversely, a positive stimulus, like the sight of conspecifics, is effective as a UCS, due to their shoaling nature (Spence et al. 2008); however, this stimulus would be difficult to accomplish logistically in home tank learning paradigms, as exploited in this thesis (see

Section 2.1.5 – Benefits of a home tank paradigm). Another traditional positive stimulus is food, which zebrafish usually identify visually, though complications can arise with satiation; therefore, the amount of food administered must be calculated carefully (Williams et al. 2002; Sison & Gerlai 2011).

Like the UCS, the CS can also take various forms. A very common CS is the use of an indicator light or lighted area in a tank (Blank et al. 2009; Xu et al. 2007). The light can be white but also can utilize a variety of colours. Zebrafish utilise the same visual spectrum as humans but also include the ultraviolet spectrum (Easter & Nicola 1996). They possess four distinct photopigments: ultraviolet (UV) sensitive pigment (λ_{max} 362 nm), short wavelength sensitive pigment (λ_{max} 415 nm, medium sensitive wavelength pigment (λ_{max} 480 nm) and long sensitive wavelength pigment (λ_{max} 570 nm) (Bilotta & Saszik 2001). Despite this knowledge of the eye structure, there is still debate about their capacity to visualize distinct colours (Risner et al. 2006; Fleisch & Neuhauss 2006; Neuhauss 2010; Avdesh et al. 2012; Bilotta & Saszik 2001). Regardless, they are able to differentiate between stimuli of different colours, as several paradigms use colours as the conditioned stimuli (Colwill et al. 2005; Sison & Gerlai 2011; Bilotta et al. 2005; Williams et al. 2002).

2.1.4 Current visual learning paradigms

For brevity, I will review a selection of the most common types of visual paradigms. As mentioned in the previous section, many paradigms use aversive stimuli, of which electric shock is by far the most common. An example of a cued-fear conditioning paradigm was presented by Agetsuma et al. (2012). This paradigm used a red light to repeatedly warn fish of an impending electric shock. After training, the fish exhibited freezing behaviour upon presentation of the CS. Avoidance paradigms are also popular and most use a tank arranged like a shuttle box. One paradigm has the fish move from a lighted area to an area of darkness to avoid an electric shock. The fish were exposed to 20 to 40 pairings spread over 1 to 3 sessions, although another paradigm with similar methods presented it as a single trial avoidance paradigm (Xu et al. 2007; Blank et al. 2009).

There are also several paradigms that utilize attractive or appetitive stimuli. Sison & Gerlai (2010) present a paradigm that used a four-armed maze with a coloured card (CS) to indicate the arm with the UCS (the sight of conspecifics). The fish learned this association over the course of 16 trials (four trials per day for four days). A paradigm by Chacon & Luchiari (2014) trained fish to associate an indicator light (CS) in a specific area of the tank with the impending delivery of food (UCS) over a period of eight days. A paradigm presented by Mueller & Neuhauss (2012) is one of the few that shows full automation with UCS (food) and CS (video screen with an arbitrary visual stimulus) delivery and fish tracking. However this paradigm, like all of the others mentioned in this section, requires a specialized tank for conditioning.

2.1.5 Benefits of a home tank paradigm

As mentioned in the previous chapter, Doyle et al. (2017) and Merovitch (2016) demonstrated a robust auditory paradigm using appetitive conditioning for zebrafish. Fish showed an association between the UCS and CS by the 5th pairing. Due to the effectiveness of the auditory paradigm, the goal of this chapter is to adapt the paradigm

to utilize a visual cue. Training the fish in their home tank reduces handling stress and minimizes acclimation time. It is also easier and more convenient to train fish if a specialized tank is not required. The result is a fully automated, cost-effective, appetitive paradigm that does not require a special tank and has a minimal stress impact on the fish.

2.1.6 Summary

The goal of this experiment was to create an effective learning paradigm for zebrafish in their home tanks by adapting an existing auditory paradigm (Doyle et al. 2017; Merovitch 2016) to use a salient visual cue (green LED) as the conditioned stimulus. This section also examined retention of learned association in groups with probe trials at 2 and 16 days, but also as individuals at 2, 4, 8, 16 and 32 days.

2.2 MATERIALS & METHODS

2.2.1 Animals

Wild-type adult zebrafish, 3.5-4.0 cm in length, (PetSmart, Bedford, NS, CAN), were housed as mixed-gender groups of five fish in 3 litre plastic tanks (Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, Apopkoka, FL, USA), beginning at least two days prior to experimentation. The fish were maintained on a 14:10 hour light: dark cycle and in municipal water (28.5°C) that had undergone reverse osmosis and was then treated with 600 mg Instant Ocean (United Pet Group, Blacksburg, VA, USA) and 26.4 mg sodium bicarbonate (Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, Apopkoka, FL, USA) per litre. Each tank was provided with a water flow of 13-14 litres per hour. Adult fish were normally fed twice daily using 300-500 micron pellets of Golden Pearl Reef Diet (Brine Shrimp Direct, Ogden, UT, USA). All experiments were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care standards and guidelines (Protocol #: 14-132).

2.2.2 Experimental apparatus

For training and testing, each home tank containing five fish was moved from the rack on which they were routinely maintained to a specialized rack partitioned into three arenas, each containing one fish tank (Figure 2.1). Arenas were separated from one another by white corrugated plastic sheets (Coroplast, Granby, QC, CAN), and the back wall of the enclosure was covered in translucent white nylon fabric, which diffused the LED backlighting for each tank (1600 lumen LED work lights, Snap-on, Kenosha, WI, USA). While on the training/testing rack, each tank was provided with recirculating water from a dedicated 40 litre reservoir.



Figure 2.1: Diagram of behavioural apparatus for visual conditioning in home tanks. Panel A and B illustrate the positions of control and experimental fish respectively during the presentation of conditioned stimulus. Green LED strips were used for the presentation of the visual stimuli. Food pellets were dispensed by the automatic feeder located above the tank. Panel C illustrates the position of the camera relative to the tank.

A micro controller (Arduino Uno, Arduino, Ivrea, ITA) with an associated motor control board (shield) (Product ID: 1438), and DS1307 real time clock (Product ID: 264) from Adafruit, New York, NY, USA was used to control automatic feeders and to present visual stimuli. Arduino programs (sketches) were created in the Arduino integrated development environment (Arduino 2014) utilizing the following libraries to control the experiments: Time (Margolis 2016), TimeAlarms (Margolis 2014), and Motorshield (Adafruit 2016). See Appendix B for Arduino sketches.

An automatic feeder, produced with a 3D printer (Replicator 2, Makerbot, New York, NY, USA) using biodegradable polylactic acid thermoplastic (stereolithography file downloadable from http://crollab.physiology.dal.ca/automaticfeeder) was placed over an existing hole in the lid of each tank (Figure 2.1). Food was placed in the hopper of each feeder and could be dispensed using a stepper motor (Sparkfun, Niwot, CO, USA) which turned a 5 mm steel drill bit. The bit served as an auger to dispense approximately 10 mg of food at a time. A white plastic divider was placed at the level of the water, 6.5 cm from the front, to keep the dispensed food floating near the feeder.

The visual conditioned stimulus was presented using a 15 cm light strip with 6 RGB LEDs (Mosaic LED Flexible Light Kit, Sylvania, Danvers, MA, USA). The LED strips were placed against each tank on the support shelf, visible to both the camera and fish (Figure 2.1). The visual conditioned stimulus consisted of green illumination, and was selected based on the spectral sensitivity of zebrafish (Risner et al. 2006), with a rated output of 6.3 lumens.

2.2.3 Conditioning

Training consisted of 10 sessions during light hours on each of two consecutive days. Inter-trial intervals of 34-108 minutes were selected from those produced using a pseudorandom time generator (Random Time Generator, http://www.random.org). Conditioning was performed by illuminating green LEDs (visual conditioned stimuli) for a 20-second period. The conditioned stimulus was immediately followed by the presentation of the food reward from the automatic feeder. In trials with control fish, the unconditioned stimulus (food) did not immediately follow the conditioned stimulus, but was instead administered at the midpoint of the inter-stimulus interval, except for the last trial in which it was administered 17-54 minutes later.

After the completion of training, the feeders and plastic dividers were removed from each tank. The tanks were then moved back to the racks on which they were routinely maintained, and routine care was resumed until animals were tested for memory retention.

2.2.4 Probe trials

Probe trials to test memory retention were conducted at various times after training. Fish were either tested in the groups in which they were trained or tested individually. For group testing, the entire tank of five fish was moved from the maintenance rack back to the observation arena, and the upper divider that prevented dispersion of the food was reintroduced as a visual landmark at one end of the tank. LED strips used for visual conditioning were left adhered to the shelf throughout conditioning and testing. For testing single fish, one animal at a time was removed from

each of the maintenance tanks and transferred to a new tank equipped with the food divider and LED strip. All fish were transferred back to the observation arenas one day before testing in order to re-acclimate them to the apparatus. On the day of testing, fish were exposed to the LED stimulus to which they were conditioned for 20 seconds without the food reward to test the association. Each group or individual fish was given only a single probe trial at 2, 4, 8, 16 or 32 days after training.

2.2.5 Data collection and analysis

A single camera was centred along one side of each tank in the observation arenas such that the outflow was on the right. Experiments were video recorded either in black and white at a resolution of 640x480 pixels (HCM5748 camera from Honeywell Video Systems, Louisville, KY, USA) or in colour at a resolution of 1280x720 pixels (C930e camera from Logitech, Newark, CA, USA). Surveillance software (iSpy, http://www.ispyconnect.com or Novex, Toronto, ON, CAN) permitted recording timestamped video files from multiple cameras simultaneously. Videos were recorded at or converted to 6 frames/second and were then trimmed to 40 second clips (VirtualDub, http://www.virtualdub.org)_covering the 20 seconds immediately before exposure to the visual conditioned stimulus and the 20 second period during presentation of the conditioned stimulus.

The behaviour of groups of fish during acquisition and probe trials was analysed using a program (Wyeth et al. 2011) developed in Matlab (The Mathworks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). Average positional values for the group were generated as mean vertical and horizontal locations of the individual fish. The behaviour of single fish in probe trials was

analysed in ImageJ (Schindelin et al. 2015) using the built-in Manual Tracking plugin. We also reanalysed the tracks of individual fish from acquisition groups in three control and three experimental tanks using the Manual Tracking plugin since this plugin generated vertical and horizontal positional values for each fish in each frame and allowed for analysis of factors such as velocity and turn angle of individuals and nearest neighbour analysis for group acquisitions. However, because no significant differences were found in any of these measures, they were excluded from further analysis and only the positional values were examined.

The average vertical and horizontal positions of the fish in each tank were calculated for the 20 seconds **before** the presentation of the conditioned stimulus and compared to average coordinates **during** presentation of the stimulus. This comparison is similar to what has been previously used to analyse responses of fish to the presentation of odours (Hussain et al. 2013), and to examine effects of stress on the position of fish relative to the bottom of the tank (Tran et al. 2016). However, adult fish exhibited a substantial latency in responding to the conditioned stimulus and therefore average positions were only calculated during the last 10 seconds of the 20 second stimulus presentation. These horizontal and vertical positions were combined into a single measure using Pythagorean Theorem ($\sqrt{(x^2 + y^2)}$), corresponding to the distance from a common origin in the top left corner of the tank, near the food source. The distances before the stimulus. This subtraction was also performed individually for vertical and horizontal positions. Positive scores for vertical coordinates correspond

to upward movements towards the surface, and positive scores for horizontal coordinates correspond to a lateral movement toward the end of the tank with the food source, regardless of initial positions. Positive combined distance scores correspond to movement towards the food source.

Linear mixed-effects models were used to analyse the acquisition data. Models included conditioning treatment and trial number as fixed effects, and two random effects for tank (both intercept and by-trial slope). Log-likelihood ratio tests compared reduced models with only main effects for conditioning treatment and trial versus the full model including both main effects and the interaction between the two. Differences in Akaike Information Criterion (Δ AIC) were also examined (Burnham & Anderson 2002). Conclusions paralleled those from the log-likelihood test P-values, with full models showing Δ AIC values >10 over the reduced models for all acquisition tests. In all cases, residual plots showed no major deviations from normality or homoscedasticity. Twoway full factorial analyses of variance (ANOVAs; with conditioning and probe time factors) and Welch two sample t-tests were conducted for the probe trials in adults. All analyses were performed in R (R Core Team 2016) with the help of the following packages: nlme (Pinheiro J et al. 2016), effects (Fox 2003), car (Fox & Weisberg 2011), ggplot (Wickham 2009), siplot (Lüdecke 2015), plotly (Sievert et al. 2016). P-values are reported in text but for full statistical analyses see Appendix C.

2.3 VISUAL CONDITIONING RESULTS

2.3.1 Acquisition of appetitive conditioning

Both experimental and control fish were observed to swim over much of the depth and length of the tank during the 20 s period before presentation of the LED illumination, with the mean position of the fish being near the centre of the tank. During training, the control groups, which were presented food with variable delays following the LED illumination, continued a similar swimming pattern in the 20 s period that the auditory stimulus was presented (Fig. 2.2A, Supp. Movie 1). In contrast, the experimental fish, which were presented with a food reward directly after each LED illumination, increasingly spent more time near the feeding location during the presentation of the auditory stimulus as training progressed (Fig. 2.2B, Supp. Movie 2). Hence, on average, the fish moved closer to the food source during presentation of the visual stimulus. As with auditory conditioning, fish came to swim closer to the food source during the presentation of a visual stimulus that was paired with food. Figure 2.3A shows this progressive tendency of fish in the conditioning treatment (but not those in the control treatment) to swim closer to the corner of the tank in which food was presented as training progressed. Analysis of linear mixed effects models confirmed a significant interaction between conditioning and training trial ($\chi^2(1)$ = 31.755, p<0.001). Bootstrapped confidence intervals suggested that by the 7-10th training trial, the experimental groups were moving consistently toward the food source during the presentation of the visual stimulus. Separate analyses of vertical and horizontal components of the movements each showed significant interactions between

conditioning and training trial (horizontal: $\chi^2(1)$ = 15.798, p<0.001, Figure 2.4A; vertical: $\chi^2(1)$ = 28.233, p<0.001, Figure 2.5A) suggesting fish learned to adjust both their depth and horizontal position in the tank in response to the conditioning visual stimulus.

2.3.2 Memory retention for groups of fish

To examine whether the association between the visual stimulus and the food reward was retained after training, we tested the groups of fish for their responses to the visual stimulus alone with probe trials at 2 and 16 days after training (Figure 2.3B). A two-way ANOVA on the movement of fish towards the feeding location revealed a significant effect of conditioning (p=0.001) but no significant effect of retention day or interaction between retention day and condition (both p>0.05). A two-way ANOVA of the horizontal data indicated a significant effect of condition (p=0.038) and a significant effect of day of retention (p=0.039; Figure 2.4B) but no interaction between retention day and condition (p>0.05). An analysis of the vertical components also showed a significant effect of conditioning (two-way ANOVA, p<0.001; Figure 2.5B) but no effect of retention day or interaction between retention day and condition (both p>0.05).

2.3.3 Memory retention for individual fish

Probe trials were performed from 2-32 days post training to determine whether fish trained in groups also retained memories for the conditioned associations with a visual stimulus when tested individually. An analysis on the movement towards the feeding location showed no significant effects of condition, day of retention or any interaction between them (two-way ANOVA, all p>0.05; Figure 2.3B). Analysis of the horizontal data showed no significant effects of condition, day of retention or any

interaction between them (two-way ANOVA, all p>0.05; Figure 2.4B). A two-way ANOVA of the vertical data indicated a significant effect of condition (p=0.012; Figure 2.5B) but no effect of retention day or interaction between retention day and condition (both p>0.05). This weaker retention is probably due to a less robust conditioning than what was seen with the auditory conditioning.


Figure 2.2: Panels A and B illustrate the position of control and experimental zebrafish respectively during trial 20, 20 s before and during the presentation of visual stimulus. The colour scale refers to the time (s) that corresponding areas were occupied by groups of moving fish. The average positions of the fish before and during the last 10 s of the visual stimulus are indicated by black and white circles respectively. The average distance traveled laterally and vertically in the control tank are 3.48 cm and 0.37 cm respectively. The average distance traveled laterally and vertically and vertically in the experimental tank are 6.79 cm and 6.23 cm respectively.



Figure 2.3: Movement of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of a visual appetitive paradigm. (A) Zebrafish in the experimental group moved towards the food source from their initial positions as a result of conditioning to the visual stimulus. This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the food source in response to the visual stimulus. (B) When tested for retention, trained groups moved closer to the food source when compared to controls. Individual fish did not move closer to the food source, when compared with controls. Data points are mean distance from the food source before LED illumination minus mean distance from the food source during LED illumination. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for individuals (single fish) and groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars = \pm S.E.M.



Figure 2.4: Horizontal movements of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of a visual appetitive paradigm. (A) Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved laterally from their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the visual stimulus. This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move laterally towards the food source in response to the visual stimulus. (B) When tested for retention on various days, trained groups moved closer, laterally, towards the food source compared to controls. The individual fish did not move closer to the food source when compared with the controls. Data points are mean horizontal position before the LED illumination sweep minus mean horizontal position during the LED illumination. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for individuals (single fish) or groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars = \pm S.E.M.



Figure 2.5: Vertical movements of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of a visual appetitive paradigm. (A) Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved vertically from their initial positions towards the surface as a result of conditioning to the visual stimulus. This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move vertically towards the food source in response to the visual stimulus. (B) When the fish were tested for retention on various days, both trained groups and individuals moved more towards the surface compared to controls. Data points are mean vertical position before the LED illumination minus mean vertical position during LED illumination. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for individuals (single fish) or groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars = ± S.E.M.

2.4 SUMMARY

The auditory learning paradigm presented in Doyle et al. (2017) and Merovitch (2016) was successfully adapted to use a salient visual cue (green LED) as the conditioned stimulus. Results showed that by the 7-10th pairing, fish were consistently moving toward the feeding location after presentation of the conditioned stimulus (green LED). Groups of fish tested for memory retention showed a significant effect of conditioning at least 2 days after training. Individual fish tested for retention moved towards the surface but not laterally towards the food location for at least 2 days after training.

CHAPTER 3: OLFACTORY LEARNING PARADIGM

3.1 INTRODUCTION

3.1.1 Zebrafish are important models for olfaction

The sense of smell plays an integral part in the survival of all vertebrates (Doty 1976; Hara 1994; Stoddart 1980). Traditional models, such as mice and rats, have been extensively studied, examining the role of olfaction in various aspects of animal behaviour, including danger detection, food location and various social cues (Bowers & Alexander 1967; Kinney & Antill 1996; Yang & Crawley 2009). However, fully understanding the physiology and anatomy of the rodent olfactory system can be challenging, due to its complexity. The rodent olfactory bulb contains 1800 – 2000 glomeruli, and the mouse genome possesses approximately 1200 olfactory receptor genes. (Potter et al. 2001; Mombaerts 2006; Oliva et al. 2008; Jones et al. 2008; Schaefer et al. 2001; Buck & Axel 1991). Zebrafish are a comparable vertebrate alternative, as they possess an olfactory system similar in organization but much simpler than that found in many mammals, making it better suited for many olfactory experiments (Baier & Korsching 1994). Zebrafish possess only approximately 140 glomeruli, which have been characterized (Braubach et al. 2012; Braubach et al. 2013), and the regions of the olfactory bulb have been mapped. These factors make zebrafish especially useful for studies of physiology (Braubach et al. 2012; Friedrich & Korsching 1998; Li et al. 2005). Insight into the underlying function of these regions can be gained by examining the behavioural responses of zebrafish towards odours.

3.1.2 Assessing function through behaviour

Zebrafish have a rich and well-documented behavioural repertoire that can be used to examine the effects that physiological changes have on function (Spence et al. 2008; Moretz et al. 2007; Kalueff et al. 2013). They display specific behaviours in response to odours, and certain odours have been found to activate specific areas in the olfactory bulb (Friedrich & Korsching 1997; Friedrich & Korsching 1998; Stensmyr & Maderspacher 2012). For instance, feeding responses in zebrafish are elicited by amino acids, which activate the lateral glomeruli of the olfactory bulb (Friedrich & Korsching 1997; Michel & Derbidge 1997). Bile acids are responsible for most social responses and activate areas in the medial bulb (Friedrich & Korsching 1998; Hamdani & Døving 2007). Exposure to pheromones such as the alarm substance, Schreckstoff, activates a unique area of the zebrafish medial bulb (Stensmyr & Maderspacher 2012; Speedie & Gerlai 2008; Jesuthasan & Mathuru 2008; Hamdani & Døving 2007). The effects of a single odourant exposure on zebrafish physiology thus are well documented, but exploring the effects of various odourants on zebrafish becomes difficult when moving from single exposure to the repeated exposures needed for a conditioning paradigm. As discussed in Chapter 1, learning paradigms can provide useful insight into how animals interact with their environments, and olfactory paradigms have previously been used to study fish behaviour.

3.1.3 Technical problems with olfactory paradigms

Creating an effective olfactory learning paradigm can be difficult for several reasons. Working with odourants is inherently challenging because temporal and spatial

distribution of odourants are more difficult to control than auditory or visual stimuli. Olfactory conditioning paradigms that utilize multiple pairings also require large volumes of water to dilute odourants between trials. The flow rate and odourant concentration must be chosen to balance the effective threshold and rate of wash out. The odourant must be sufficiently salient to be detected during pairing but must subsequently be diluted below the effective threshold before the next pairing.

Choosing an appropriate odourant is also important when using an olfactory paradigm. Amino acids are a common odourant for use in odour exposure studies involving fish (Valentinčič et al. 2000; Valentinčič & Caprio 1994; Valentinčič et al. 2005). Zebrafish can also be conditioned using amino acids but show an innate preference for them due to an association with food (Braubach et al. 2009; Lipton & Rosenberg 1994; Koide et al. 2009). To investigate the acquisition rate, conditioned behaviour must be sufficiently distinct from innate behaviour; therefore, the conditioned stimulus must be initially neutral to the fish (Braubach et al. 2009). A more suitable odourant for this study is phenylethyl alcohol (PEA), which has been shown to be initially neutral to zebrafish (Harden et al. 2006). All of the factors mentioned in this section must be carefully examined when developing an olfactory paradigm.

3.1.4 Current olfactory paradigms

An olfactory paradigm developed in our lab in 2009 showed successful conditioning of adult zebrafish (Braubach et al. 2009). This experiment featured single fish acclimated in a large cylindrical tank. Fish were exposed to 12 pairings of PEA or an amino acid with a food reward per day for five days. At the end of conditioning,

zebrafish showed increased appetitive swimming behaviour when presented with the odourant and restricted their swimming to the immediate area of food reward. An examination of memory found the fish retained the association up to 48 hours later. To ensure that conditioning was olfactory and not gustatory, the nares of fish were occluded before testing. The anosmic fish did not exhibit the same association, which confirmed that the olfactory conditioning was occurring.

Unfortunately, this paradigm's use of individual animals makes it difficult to implement on a large scale. In 2011 the paradigm was successfully adapted to train groups of fish; however, further issues remain unaddressed (Braubach et al. 2011; Wyeth et al. 2011). One of the issues is that the paradigm requires a specialized tank that is unfamiliar to the fish, thereby necessitating an acclimation period. In addition, the large water requirement (360L/tank/hour) makes it difficult to run more than one tank simultaneously (Braubach et al. 2009). While this paradigm has proven that groups of zebrafish can be conditioned using an olfactory cue, it suffers from limitations that make it unsuitable for high-throughput training.

3.1.5 Benefits of a home tank olfactory paradigm

Recently, Doyle et al (2017: see also Chapter 2) developed an appetitive conditioning paradigm for zebrafish in their home tanks (Doyle et al. 2017; Merovitch 2016). A major advantage of this paradigm was that the fish were conditioned in the same tanks in which they were housed, which greatly reduces handling stress and in turn reduces acclimation time. The paradigm used auditory cues paired with a food reward ten times daily for two days. Fish showed a robust association between the stimulus and the food reward after two days of training and retained the association for at least another two days. In this chapter, the paradigm was adapted to use olfactory cues, while also addressing the drawbacks of other olfactory paradigms. The result was a high-throughput, cost-effective, appetitive paradigm with reasonable water requirements and a minimal stress impact on the fish.

3.1.6 Summary

The goal of this chapter was to adapt the auditory learning paradigm presented in Doyle et al (2017) and Merovitch (2016) to use a salient olfactory cue (PEA) as the conditioned stimulus. The rate of acquisition will be examined, in addition to the retention of the learned association at one and two weeks post training. An effective olfactory conditioning paradigm will be useful for studying the physiological aspects of learning and the olfaction process.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1 Animals

AB zebrafish (both wild type and unscreened UAS:GCamp zebrafish) (Muto et al. 2013) were obtained from the Zebrafish Core Facility, Faculty of Medicine, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada and housed as mixed-gender groups of five fish in 3 L tanks (Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, Apopkoka, FL, USA), beginning at least one day prior to experimentation. The fish were maintained on a 14:10 hour light/dark cycle in treated municipal water (28°C, pH: 7.3 and salinity: 0.20 psu) with a flow of approximately 13-14 L per hour per tank. All experiments were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care standards and guidelines (Dalhousie Protocol 14-132).

3.2.2 Experimental apparatus

For conditioning, the home tank was moved to one of the eight specialised observation arenas (See figure 3.1). Each arena contained a camera (C930e camera from Logitech, Newark, CA, USA), centred along one side of each tank, which was used to observe the fish. To provide contrast for the video, the long side of the tank, opposite the camera, was covered with opaque white tape. In addition, the opaque side prevented the fish from being distracted and provided a landmark. The end of the tank, opposite the drain, was covered with alternating green and red stripes on the diagonal to use as a visual cue for the location of food delivery. Each arena also contains a water inlet (See 3.2.3 Water delivery).



Figure 3.1: Diagram of behavioural apparatus for olfactory conditioning in home tanks. Panel A and B illustrate the positions on control and experimental fish respectively during the presentation of conditioned stimulus. A tube delivered phenylethyl alcohol (PEA) to the tank. A red LED indicated to the camera when the odourant was being delivered. Food pellets were dispensed by the automatic feeder located above the tank.

A 3D printed automatic feeder, controlled by an Arduino microprocessor (See Section 2.1.2) was placed over an existing hole in the lid of each tank (stereolithography file downloadable from http://crollab.physiology.dal.ca/automaticfeeder) (Fig. 3.1). Food was dispensed using a stepper motor and a 5 mm steel drill bit, which served as an auger to dispense approximately 10 mg of food at a time. Programs (sketches) were created in the Arduino software (Arduino 2014) utilizing the following libraries to control the experiments: Time (Margolis 2016), TimeAlarms (Margolis 2014) and Motorshield (Adafruit 2016) (See Appendix B for Arduino sketches). A white polylactic acid divider was placed at the level of the water, 8 cm from the front of the tank, to keep the dispensed food floating near the feeder.

The odorant was dispensed using a syringe pump (Model 200, KD Scientific, Holliston, Massachusetts, USA) adapted to hold eight 20 mL syringes (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, USA). Each syringe was connected to polyethylene tubing (PE No. 160, Becton Dickinson) using an 18 gauge needle (Becton Dickinson). Each tube was placed through a hole in the lid of the tanks by the water inflow, near the front of the tanks. An LED light partially wrapped in heat shrink tubing was adhered to the lid so that it was only visible to the camera. The light indicated when the odourant was being delivered.

3.2.3 Water delivery

For approximately 9 hours during the 14 hour daylight period, the tanks were maintained by a fresh water, flow-through system (13-14 L per hour) to prevent odourant from contaminating the main recirculating system. Municipal water (28°C) was

run through a charcoal filter (FC200, Rainfresh, Richmond Hill, ON, CAN) and into a 200 L reservoir at ground level. Water was then treated with 600 mg Instant Ocean (United Pet Group, Blacksburg, VA, USA), 26.4 mg sodium bicarbonate (Pen-tair Aquatic Eco-Systems, Apopkoka, FL, USA) and 0.1 ml dechlorinator/conditioner (Aquasafe Plus, PetSmart, NS, CAN) per litre. An ActiveAQUA Submersible Pump 1000 (Hydrofarm, CA, USA) then transferred the water into a 40 L polyethylene reservoir on the top of the shelf of the racks housing the experiment. A hose (12.7 mm or 1/2") connected the reservoir to a ball valve (12.7 mm or ½"), which in turn connected to a manifold with outflows to the individual tanks. Tubing (3.2 mm or 1/8") connected each outflow to a tank via a Y-connector (3.2 mm or 1/8"), which allowed easy delivery of either recirculating system water or fresh flow-through water to each tank. During conditioning, the outflow of each tank was directed to a floor drain using two 1" (25.4 mm) PVC ball valves (Home Depot, Halifax, NS, CAN) to prevent contamination of the system water with odourant.

Overnight, when the fish were not being exposed to odourants, the tanks were switched back to the recirculating system water, and the outflows drained back into the recirculation system.

3.2.4 Conditioning

Training consisted of 10 sessions during daylight hours on each of two consecutive days. Inter-trial intervals of 40-60 minutes were selected from those produced using a pseudorandom time generator (Random Time Generator, http://www.random.org). Conditioning was performed by introducing an odourant to the tank. Twenty seconds after the beginning of odourant delivery, the conditioned stimulus was followed by the presentation of the food reward from the automatic feeder. In trials with control fish, the unconditioned stimulus (food) did not immediately follow the conditioned stimulus, but was instead administered at the midpoint of the inter-stimulus interval, except for the last trial in which it was administered at a time 15-34 minutes later as determined by the random time generator. Of the eight tanks run simultaneously, four were designated experimental and four control.

Phenylethyl alcohol (PEA) was used for the odourant because it has previously been shown to be a neutral stimulus for zebrafish (Braubach et al. 2009; Harden et al. 2006). During each of the 20 sessions, 1.5 mL of 2x10⁻⁴ M PEA was delivered to the tank. In preliminary experiments, 1.5 mL of dye was injected into the tanks to assess the dispersion of odourant. After injection, a single bolus of dye was visible for 20 s when it broke into concentrated swirls that were observed for approximately 120 s before what appeared to be homogeneous dispersion throughout the tank. During the dye experiment, all fish in the tank encountered the concentrated dye within the 20 s (See Supp. Movie 3). Assuming that the dye dispersed similarly to PEA odourant and was evenly distributed by about 120 s after injection, each fish would be expected to encounter a concentrated area. After full dispersion in the tank, the concentration of PEA was calculated to be 1x10⁻⁷ M, which is below the functional dosage for zebrafish (Harden et al., 2006). The continuous water inflow further diluted the odourant during the inter-trial period. See Appendix E for a mathematical analysis of odourant dilution.



Figure 3.2: Theoretical calculation of phenylethyl alcohol (PEA) dilution delivery to the tank. The equation (C= 1.05×10^{-7} M x e^(-t/12.86)) assumes the odourant is homogenously distributed in the tank, which occurs approximately 2 min after delivery to the tank (See Appendix E for calculations).

After the completion of training on the second day, the feeders, indicator lights and odourant dispensing tubes were removed from the lid and tanks were then moved back to the racks on which they were routinely maintained, until animals were tested for memory retention.

3.2.5 Water only trial

To ensure that the fish were responding specifically to the PEA and not to the water turbulence that the odourant delivery creates, each tank was exposed to a wateronly trial after training. Instead of odourant, 1.5mL of reservoir water was delivered to the tank using the same delivery method. The responses of fish were recorded and behaviour analyzed using the same method as the acquisition videos.

3.2.6 Probe trials

Probe trials to test memory retention were conducted 6-7 and 13-14 days after training. Each entire tank of five previously trained fish was moved from the maintenance rack back to the observation arena and switched over to the flow-through water system at least one hour before testing. The feeders, indicator lights and odourant tubes were placed back on the lids of the tanks. Fish were exposed to the stimulus to which they were conditioned for 20 seconds without the food reward to test whether the fish retained a conditioned association between the CS and the UCS.

3.2.7 Data collection and analysis

Experiments were video recorded in colour at a resolution of 1280x720 pixels. Surveillance software (iSpy, http://www.ispyconnect.com) permitted recording timestamped video files from all eight cameras simultaneously. Videos were recorded at 6

frames/second and were then trimmed to 40 second clips (VirtualDub,

http://www.virtualdub.org) covering the 20 seconds immediately before exposure to the olfactory conditioned stimulus and the 20 second period during presentation of the conditioned stimulus. The food (UCS) was dispensed immediately after the video concluded at 40 s.

The behaviour of groups of fish during acquisition and probe trials was analysed using a program (Wyeth et al. 2011) developed in Matlab (The Mathworks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). Average positional values for the group were generated as mean vertical and horizontal locations of the individual fish. The average vertical and horizontal positions of the fish in each tank were calculated for the 20 seconds **before** the presentation of the conditioned stimulus and compared to average coordinates **during** presentation of the stimulus. However, the fish in the olfactory paradigm exhibited a different response time than fish in the visual paradigm. In order to examine when the fish were responding, the positions of the fish in all the tanks were averaged together on trial 20 (see Figure 3.3). The fish showed a spike in response to the stimulus for a duration of 5 seconds, from the 25th second to the 30th second of the video. The positions of fish during this 5 second window were compared to the positions during the entire 20 second period before stimulus delivery. These horizontal and vertical positions were combined into a single measure using Pythagorean Theorem ($\sqrt{(x^2 + y^2)}$), corresponding to the distance from a common origin in the top left corner of the tank, near the food source. The distances during presentation of the conditioned stimulus

were then subtracted from the distances before the stimulus to produce a measure of movement relative to the location of food presentation.

Analysis was again performed independently for changes in vertical and horizontal position. Positive scores for vertical coordinates correspond to upward movements towards the surface, and positive scores for horizontal coordinates correspond to a lateral movement toward the end of the tank with the food source, regardless of initial positions. Positive combined distance scores correspond to movement towards the food source. Statistical analysis was performed using the same methods as the visual paradigm (See Section 2.2.5 – Data collection and analysis). For full statistical analyses see Appendix D.



Figure 3.3: Average position of groups (n=44) in experimental and control tanks over the last pairing trial (Trial 20). The trial begins at 0 s and the odourant is delivered at 20 s. Experimental fish showed a spike in activity approximately 5 s after odourant delivery for a duration of about 5 s.

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 Acquisition of appetitive conditioning

With training, the fish swam closer to the food source during the presentation of an olfactory stimulus that was paired with food, although the association was weaker than the visual conditioning. Figures 3.5A and 3.6A show a weak tendency of fish in the conditioning treatment (but not those in the control treatment) to swim closer to the corner of the tank in which food was presented as training progressed. Analyses of vertical and horizontal components of the movements each showed significant interactions between conditioning and training trials (horizontal: $\chi^2(1)=5.5545$, p<0.05, Fig. 3.5A; vertical: $\chi^2(1)=6.3594$, p<0.01, Fig. 3.6A) suggesting that fish learned to adjust both their depth and horizontal position, albeit slightly, in the tank in response to the conditioned olfactory stimulus. Analysis of linear mixed effects models showed no significant interaction between conditioning and training trials ($\chi^2(1)=1.9669$, p>0.05, Fig 3.4A) in the combined measure, mean movement towards food. The effect of training was too small to determine during which trial they begin to form an association.

3.3.2 Response to water only trial

A comparison of the experimental and control response to the water only trial revealed no significant difference in both mean movement towards food and vertical movement (T-Test: both p>0.05, Figs. 3.4A & 3.6A). Analysis of the horizontal movement indicated a significant difference between the experimental and control groups (T-Test: p<0.05, Fig. 3.5A), although this result was not due to an elevated control group but by a control group that was below the original baseline.

3.3.3 Memory retention

Groups of fish were tested for their responses to the olfactory stimulus alone with probe trials one and two weeks after training to examine whether the association between the olfactory stimulus and the food reward was retained. A two-way ANOVA on the mean movement of fish towards the feeding location revealed a significant effect retention day (p<0.05, Fig. 3.4B) but no significant effect of condition or interaction between retention day and condition (both p>0.05). Independent analyses on the horizontal and vertical data indicated no significant effect of condition, retention day or interaction between retention day and condition (Two-way ANOVA, all p>0.05, Figs. 3.5B & 3.6B).



Figure 3.4: Movement of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of an olfactory appetitive paradigm. (A) Zebrafish in the experimental group showed small movements towards the food source from their initial positions as a result of conditioning to the olfactory stimulus, although the difference was not significant. This response increased slightly throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the food source in response to the olfactory stimulus. The water only trial showed no significant response by either the control or experimental fish. (B) When tested for retention, some trained groups moved closer to the food source when compared to controls. Data points are mean distance from the food source during PEA delivery. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars = \pm S.E.M.



Figure 3.5: Horizontal movements of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of an olfactory appetitive paradigm. (A) Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved laterally from their initial positions slightly towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the olfactory stimulus. This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move laterally towards the food source in response to the olfactory stimulus. The water only trial showed a significant response by either the control or experimental fish, it appears to be caused by the control group moving below baseline. (B) When tested for retention on various days, some trained groups moved closer, laterally, towards the food source compared to controls, although not significantly. Data points are mean horizontal position before the PEA delivery sweep minus mean horizontal position during the PEA delivery. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars = ± S.E.M.



Figure 3.6: Vertical movements of adult zebrafish during acquisition and retention of an olfactory appetitive paradigm. (A) Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved vertically from their initial positions slightly towards the surface as a result of conditioning to the olfactory stimulus. This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move vertically towards the food source in response to the olfactory stimulus. The water only trial showed no significant response by either the control or experimental fish. (B) When the fish were tested for retention on various days they showed slight movement towards the surface compared to controls, although not significantly. Data points are mean vertical position before the PEA delivery minus mean vertical position during PEA delivery. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars = \pm S.E.M.

3.4 SUMMARY

The auditory learning paradigm presented in Doyle et al (2017) and Merovitch (2016) was adapted to use an initially neutral, salient olfactory cue (PEA) as the conditioned stimulus. The results showed that though the fish seem to move towards the food source in the lateral and horizontal directions, the small response in the data makes it difficult to determine by which pairing the fish have learned the association. Groups of fish tested for memory retention at one and two weeks showed a slight effect of retention day when examining the combined measure, mean movement towards food.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1 SUMMARY

This thesis presents two adaptations of a previously described automated appetitive auditory paradigm (Doyle et al. 2017; Merovitch 2016; Merovitch et al. 2016).

4.1.1 Visual learning paradigm

This visual paradigm possesses several improvements over previous visual paradigms. It is an efficent, fully automated paradigm that is easily adaptable to any conventional fish rack, and the programmable nature of the LED light strip makes it simple to alter the light stimulus. Potential possibilities include different colours, light intensities and spatiotemporal patterns of illumination.

Conditioning: The fish formed an association between the illumination of the green LED (conditioned stimulus, CS) and the food reward (unconditioned stimulus, UCS). In as few as 7-10 pairings, the fish moved consistently to the feeding area upon the presentation of the CS.

Retention: Groups of fish, tested for memory retention at 2 and 16 days, retained the association for at least 2 days. Individual fish, tested for memory retention at 2, 4, 8, 16 and 32 days, showed significant vertical movement towards the feeding area at 2 days, which suggested that they retain the association with food but not the exact lateral location.

4.1.2 Olfactory learning paradigm

In addition to the general improvements mentioned with the visual paradigm, such as automation and adaptability, the olfactory paradigm conditioned fish to form an

association with a fraction of the water usage of previously described paradigms (Braubach et al. 2009). The lower water requirements of the current paradigm make it compatible for use in standard zebrafish facilities and lessen the need for a specialised testing area.

Conditioning: Fish formed a weak association between the PEA (CS) and the food reward (UCS). The fish moved towards the food location after presentation of the odourant, although the response appears less pronounced than the response of the fish trained with the visual paradigm.

Retention: When examining the combined measure, mean movement towards food, the retention data indicated significance in retention duration, but the response was too weak to determine how long they remember the association.

4.2 CONDITIONING

Initially, it was necessary to determine if conditioning occurred and whether the association formed was between the food and the intended CS. In both paradigms, naïve fish at the beginning of training exhibited similar movements before and during the presentation of the CS (Figs. 2.3A & 3.4A), which indicated that the respective stimuli (green LED and PEA) were innately neutral to the fish. At the end of the acquisition period, fish in the control groups showed no significant difference in behaviour from the naïve fish, which indicated that no association was formed between the CS and the UCS (Figs 2.3A & 3.4A). At the end of training, only the fish in the experimental groups move towards the feeding area when presented with the CS. These

results suggest that the fish learn to associate previously neutral stimuli with a food reward, which indicates that classical conditioning occurred.

As discussed in Section 3.1.3 - Technical Problems with Olfactory Paradigms, the olfactory paradigm presented unique challenges with regard to CS presentation. For instance, it was necessary to ensure that the fish were responding to the odour itself and not to the changes in water flow caused by the odourant delivery. Therefore, the fish were exposed to a water-only trial at the end of training to gauge the fish's response to changes in water flow (see Section 3.2.5 – Water Only Trial). The fish showed no significant change in behaviour before and during the delivery of the water, thus indicating that the fish were responding to the odour and not the changes in water flow caused by the odour and not the changes in water flow caused by the odour and not the changes in water flow caused by the odour and not the changes in water flow caused by the odour and not the changes in water flow caused by the odour and not the changes in water flow caused by the odour and not the changes in water flow caused by the odour and not the changes in water flow caused by the odourant delivery (Fig 3.4A). These findings are consistent with those presented by Braubach et al 2009 (see Section 3.1.4 – Current olfactory paradigms) which showed that fish with occluded nares could not form an association between an odourant and a food reward. Therefore, it can be concluded that the fish were associating the smell of the odour with the food, not changes in water flow caused by delivery.

My results clearly show that fish can form associations between either a visual or olfactory stimulus and a food reward as exhibited by reliable changes in their swimming patterns in the automated paradigms that I developed. A question arises, however, whether the fish actually develop a spatial map of the tank or if the association is purely with landmarks used for navigation. The fish rose to the surface in anticipation of food when presented with the CS. This association is probably rooted in the innate surface

feeding behaviours of zebrafish (Spence et al. 2008). The association between the CS and the lateral position of the food seems to be weaker. The weaker lateral association also occurred with the auditory paradigm presented in Doyle et al. (2017) and Merovitch (2016). In an effort to provide more salient visual landmarks for the fish in the olfactory paradigm, red and green stripes were affixed to the tank on the end where food was dispensed. The fish did show a weak association with the side of the tank where the food was dispensed. This response was similar to the vertical response of the fish, perhaps indicating that although weak, the fish form an association with the landmarks, as other studies that suggest they are capable of learning such associations (Karnik & Gerlai 2012; Arthur & Levin 2001; Ruhl et al. 2014). Another explanation for the lack of evidence of an association in the lateral direction relates to the small size of the tank. The size constraint of the tank may limit the natural circling behaviour exhibited by zebrafish when they are anticipating food (Kalueff et al. 2013). Other studies conducted in a larger testing apparatus have found that zebrafish will circle in the area of expected food after the delivery of the CS (Braubach et al. 2009; Kalueff et al. 2013). The fish may be associating the food with the specific location but circle the area instead of remaining stationary near the feeding site. The weak lateral response still suggests that there is an association and therefore incorporating that measurement into the analysis provides a more accurate representation of the fish's behaviour.

4.3 RATE OF AQUISITION

A review of other studies presented a wide range of acquisition rates. Studies using aversive stimuli such as water turbulence or administering electric shock, have

used 1 to 40 pairings presented over 1 to 5 days (Agetsuma et al. 2012; Xu et al. 2007; Blank et al. 2009; Morin et al. 2013). In contrast, previous appetitive paradigms use 20 to 400 trials for up to 8 days (Sison & Gerlai 2011; Braubach et al. 2009; Chacon & Luchiari 2014; Colwill et al. 2005; Mueller & Neuhauss 2012). These findings suggest that acquisition rates vary widely between paradigms and sensory modalities and that fish may take longer to form appetitive associations when compared to aversive paradigms. However, based on the results from Doyle et al (2017) and this thesis, the fish appear to form appetitive associations relatively quickly.

Fish trained with the visual paradigm began to exhibit an association between the CS (LED) and the unconditioned stimulus (food reward) by the 7th to 10th pairings on the first day of training. This rate of learning is similar to the one observed in the previously described auditory paradigm, which showed learning by the 5th pairing (Doyle et al. 2017; Merovitch 2016). The olfactory paradigm showed that the fish formed a weak association between the presentation of odourant and the food reward over two days of training. The weaker association may be due to the imprecise nature of PEA diffusion. Each fish encounters the odourant at a slightly different time, and the concentration varies depending on the location in the tank, which may contribute to delay in forming the association.

Comparison of acquisition rates between modalities can be problematic for several reasons. Firstly, the intensities of the conditioned stimuli are not directly comparable. One challenge in designing a learning paradigm is in choosing the intensity of the CS. Several studies have been conducted to examine the effect of stimulus

intensity on the reaction of zebrafish (Avdesh et al. 2012; Wolman et al. 2011; Carvan et al. 2004; Bilotta et al. 2005). The intensities of the stimuli were chosen to fall within the detection range known for zebrafish but such that they did not evoke a startle response. In the case of the olfactory stimulus, we also had to factor in the time until the odourant fell below the effective threshold. In all three sensory modalities (auditory, visual and olfactory) the fish formed some association between the CS and the UCS by the end of the two day (20 trials) training period. The auditory paradigm began to show an association by the 5th pairing; however, the strong pairing may be due to the nature of the stimulus itself. The sound was applied via a surface transducer attached to the side of the tank, which evenly administered the sound instantaneously to the whole tank. In the visual paradigm, the LED light strip that provided the stimulus was adhered adjacent to the tank as not to interfere with the videotaping of the fish. It is possible that the fish in certain areas of the tank did not immediately see the light, therefore resulting in a delayed response from some fish in the group. Similar limitations also apply to the olfactory paradigm. The olfactory stimulus presents the greatest challenge to implementation. As seen in the dye trial video (See Supp. Movie 3) each fish in the group was exposed to the odourant at slightly different times, which may be the reason this paradigm also showed the most delayed acquisition. Although the fish were exposed to PEA at a concentration above their effective threshold, it is possible that the stimulus was not salient enough to form a strong association.

An additional point to consider is that each sensory system may have a different neural substrate for learning. Most of the current studies on zebrafish examine brain

regions associated with learning generally and not learning specific to a sensory stimulus (Rodríguez et al., 2002; Portavella et al., 2004; Salas et al., 2006; Broglio et al., 2010; Mueller and Wullimann, 2009; Mueller et al., 2011; Northcutt, 2011). Therefore, it is unknown if different types of learning utilize different areas of the zebrafish brain or different mechanisms. Consequently, it is also unknown if association via one sensory modality may be inherently easier for zebrafish to acquire than via another sensory modality.

4.4 RETENTION

One goal of this study was to examine the memory retention of these two paradigms at various periods after training. There are very few studies that have examined memory retention beyond 2–3 days after training. Zebrafish can remember the association between a visual or olfactory cue and food for 1 to 2 days (Al-Imari & Gerlai 2008; Braubach et al. 2009). Memory of an association between a visual stimulus and an electric shock can persist for 3 days (Xu & Goetz 2012) and one study has suggested that zebrafish can retain spatial memories for up to 10 days (Williams et al. 2002).

For the visual paradigm, the individual fish did not exhibit movement towards the food in the lateral direction when tested for retention, but they did retain the vertical association for at least 2 days (Fig 2.5). When groups of fish were tested for retention at 2 days they showed a general movement towards the feeding location. The paradigms were demonstrably effective when testing retention on individuals or groups as required for an experiment design.

When tested, the fish showed significance in retention duration but due to the weak association, it is difficult to quantify how long they retained the association. Solutions to this issue are addressed in Section 4.6.2 – Future Studies.

4.5 FUTURE IMPROVEMENTS

4.5.1 Improvements in Visual Paradigm

As discussed in Section 4.3 – Rate of Acquisition, one possible reason that fish quickly formed associations during the auditory learning paradigm was the intensity and salience of the conditioned stimulus. Accordingly, increasing the intensity of the light may improve rate of acquisition and retention of association for the visual paradigm. It was also postulated that the light's position made it difficult for some fish to see immediately upon illumination. Moving the light to a more visible location or the addition of more light strips may help the fish to form the association more quickly. Presenting light of modulating intensity or colour may also increase the salience of the visual stimulus.

4.5.2 Improvements in Olfactory Paradigm

Due to the small responses in the olfactory data, various improvements could be implemented. In preliminary experiments, the volume and concentration of the odourant were varied to ensure that the fish encounter PEA at a concentration above the zebrafish effective threshold determined by other studies (Harden et al. 2006; Braubach et al. 2009), while also ensuring washout and dissipation to below threshold However, it is still possible that the odourant is not salient enough for the fish to form a strong association. Therefore, the concentration could be increased two fold to ensure the stimulus is salient enough. The fish do form a weak association, but it is possible that the association may become stronger with more training. Also it may take longer for zebrafish to form association with olfactory cues versus visual or auditory cues. Therefore, an additional day of training could be added with an extra 10 trials, for a total of 30 trials over three days.

Further refinements to the olfactory paradigm may yield even greater scalability and reduced labour intensiveness. Adapting the olfactory paradigm to utilize recirculated water would be beneficial for several reasons. Firstly, this would make the water requirements less onerous by removing the need to drain off the odourant contaminated water. As discussed in section 3.2.3 - Water Delivery, the olfactory paradigm uses 13-14 litres of water per tank per hour, so approximately 252 L were required to train one group of fish to criterion over two days. For comparison, the paradigm presented by Braubach et al., (2009) used 360 litres per tank per hour, so approximately 16000 L were required to train one fish to criterion over five days. The significant reduction in water usage makes the olfactory paradigm easier to replicate, although this is still a large water requirement for some systems to tolerate. If the water could instead be reconditioned and then returned to the existing system, there could be further reductions in the requirements for water supply. This olfactory paradigm utilized a flow-through system to ensure no contamination of the main water supply; however, this precaution was extremely conservative. The PEA added to the tanks was already diluted below threshold by the time it was homogeneously diffused in the tank. The concentration of PEA would be negligible if the entire volume of water in the whole

recirculation system was used. Also, methods of treating the outflow to break down the odourant should be investigated, as this would allow reconditioned water to be recirculated into the main water supply without any odourant contamination.

This olfactory paradigm can be adapted for use with any liquid odourants, so the water reconditioning would need to be adapted specifically to neutralize the odourant being used. For example, amino acids could be easily used with a recirculation system because they will degrade in any system with a bio-filter (Barker 1981). Using recirculating water would also make adapting the paradigm to a traditional rack system easier due to the reduced space requirements for water reservoirs. Additionally, having all of the water delivered from the main supply could allow for better water quality and more consistent control of water temperature.

4.6 IMPLICATIONS

4.6.1 Applications of these paradigms

Both of these paradigms will have many beneficial applications. They can be easily adapted into high-throughput screens, which can be used to examine genetic and pharmacological effects on learning and memory. As discussed in Chapter 1: Introduction, these paradigms may prove useful when examining the neural substrates of behaviours.

4.6.2 Juveniles

A future goal will be to further adapt the olfactory paradigm for use with juvenile zebrafish. The auditory paradigm has been successfully adapted for use on younger animals (Doyle et al. 2017). Juveniles (49 dpf) can successfully learn to associate an FM
tone sweep with food reward by the 10th to 13th pairing, and they can remember the association for at least two days. Merovitch (2016) showed that 30 dpf fish began to show an association between the 8th and 10th pairing and retained the memory for at least 2 days after training. Therefore, the olfactory paradigm will first adapted for use on 49 dpf fish and if successful will be further adapted for 30 dpf fish.

4.6.3 Physiological study

Another potential future study could be an examination of neural activity during memory retrieval. One method of studying neural activity is by examining the phosphorylation of activated extracellular kinases (ERKs). When the cell's membrane depolarises, it triggers an influx of calcium, which in turn triggers a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade, which results in phosphorylation of ERKs (pERK) (Randlett et al. 2015). Several studies have examined the role of ERK in the retrieval of memories in rodents (Atkins et al. 1998; Selcher et al. 1999; Blum et al. 1999), and ERK has also been used as a general indicator of neural activity in larval zebrafish by using immunohistochemistry to stain against pERK (Randlett et al. 2015). Merovitch (2016) presented an examination of neural activity in the zebrafish brain during memory retrieval of a learned auditory association. This study determined that pERK immunoreactivity increases in certain regions of the brain when memory retrieval is occurring. The goal would be to apply the same technique to examine neural activity with fish that have undergone conditioning with the visual or olfactory paradigms. In fact, several studies have already used pERK to examine activity in the olfactory bulb

60

when the animal is exposed to an odour (Biechl et al. 2016; Mirich et al. 2004; Hussain et al. 2013).

A further study could explore how olfactory discrimination abilities develop as zebrafish age. The zebrafish olfactory system begins development before hatching at about 22 hours post fertilisation (hpf), and by 48 hpf rudimentary proto-glomeruli have developed (Whitlock & Westerfield 1998; Miyasaka et al. 2007). Over the course of development, the glomeruli begin to differentiate into smaller, more numerous glomeruli. As mentioned in Section 3.1 – Olfactory Introduction, certain odourants, like amino acids, elicit activity in certain glomeruli. However, when the fish are developing, these glomeruli may still be amalgamated and therefore may be unable to differentiate between two similar odours. The goal of this experiment would be to determine at what age the fish develop the ability to discriminate between amino acids. At 30 dpf the olfactory paradigm could be used to condition the fish to a specific amino acid, but during the inter-trial period, a second amino acid will be introduced to the tank. This could determine if the fish can discriminate between the two amino acids and successfully associate the correct amino acid with a food reward. This could also be paralleled with a physiological study of the differentiation of the glomeruli in the olfactory bulb.

61

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, this thesis presents two successful home tank learning paradigms for zebrafish using a visual or olfactory cue. The visual paradigm conditioned fish to associate a light cue with a food reward in 7-10 pairings and retain the memory of this association for at least two days. The olfactory paradigm, although weaker than the visual paradigm, still showed formation of an association over two days and some indication of retention.

Both these paradigms eliminate the need for a specialised apparatus, which in turn increases efficiency and reduces handling stress on the fish. This simple, low-cost, automated system permits scalable conditioning of zebrafish with minimal human intervention, greatly reducing both variability and labour-intensiveness. It will be useful for studies of the neural basis of learning and memory, and for high-throughput screening of compounds modifying those processes.

REFERENCES

- Adafruit, 2016. Motorshield library. Available at: https://learn.adafruit.com/adafruitmotor-shield-v2-for-arduino/install-software.
- Agetsuma, M. et al., 2012. Cued Fear Conditioning in Zebrafish (Danio rerio). In A. V. Kalueff & A. M. Stewart, eds. *Zebrafish Protocols for Neurobehavioral Research*. New York, pp. 257–264. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-61779-597-8_19 [Accessed February 27, 2017].
- Al-Imari, L. & Gerlai, R., 2008. Sight of conspecifics as reward in associative learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Behavioural Brain Research*, 189(1), pp.216–219. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0166432807006584 [Accessed March 14, 2017].
- Ammassari-Teule, M. & Caprioli, A., 1985. Spatial learning and memory, maze running strategies and cholinergic mechanisms in two inbred strains of mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 17(1), pp.9–16. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0166432885900038 [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- Arduino, 2014. Classic Arduino IDE 1.06. Available at: https://www.arduino.cc/en/Main/OldSoftwareReleases#previous.
- Arthur, D. & Levin, E.D., 2001. Spatial and non-spatial visual discrimination learning in zebrafish (danio rerio). *Animal Cognition*, 4(2), pp.125–131. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s100710100111 [Accessed February 23, 2017].
- Atkins, C.M. et al., 1998. The MAPK cascade is required for mammalian associative learning. *Nature neuroscience*, 1(7), pp.602–609.
- Avdesh, A. et al., 2012. Evaluation of color preference in zebrafish for learning and memory. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 28(2), pp.459–469. Available at: http://content.iospress.com/articles/journal-of-alzheimers-disease/jad110704 [Accessed April 20, 2017].
- Baier, H. & Korsching, S., 1994. Olfactory glomeruli in the zebrafish form an invariant pattern and are identifiable across animals. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 14(January), pp.219–230. Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/content/jneuro/14/1/219.full.pdf [Accessed February 18, 2017].

- Bally-Cuif, L. & Vernier, P., 2010. Organization and physiology of the zebrafish nervous system. In *Fish Physiology*. pp. 25–80. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S154650981002902X [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Barker, H.A., 1981. Amino Acid Degradation by Anaerobic Bacteria. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 50(1), pp.23–40. Available at: http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev.bi.50.070181.000323 [Accessed July 24, 2017].
- Biechl, D. et al., 2016. Crypt cells are involved in kin recognition in larval zebrafish. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), p.24590. Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/srep24590.
- Bilotta, J. et al., 2005. Assessing appetitive choice discrimination learning in zebrafish. Zebrafish, 2(4), pp.259–268. Available at: http://www.liebertonline.com/doi/abs/10.1089/zeb.2005.2.259 [Accessed February 23, 2017].
- Bilotta, J. & Saszik, S., 2001. The zebrafish as a model visual system. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience, 19(7), pp.621–629. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0736574801000508 [Accessed February 24, 2017].
- Blank, M. et al., 2009. A one-trial inhibitory avoidance task to zebrafish: Rapid acquisition of an NMDA-dependent long-term memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 92(4), pp.529–534.
- Blokland, A., 1996. Acetylcholine : a neurotransmitter for learning and memory? Brain Research Reviews, 21, pp.285–300. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/016501739500016X [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- Blum, S. et al., 1999. A mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in the CA1/CA2 subfield of the dorsal hippocampus is essential for long-term spatial memory. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 19(9), pp.3535–44.
- Bowers, J.M. & Alexander, B.K., 1967. Mice: individual recognition by olfactory cues. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 158(805), pp.1208–1210.

- Braubach, O., Wood, H. & Gadbois, S., 2009. Olfactory conditioning in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Behavioural brain ...*, 18(23), pp.9977–9988. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166432808006049 [Accessed September 24, 2015].
- Braubach, O.R. et al., 2011. A simple and effective method to condition olfactory behaviors in groups of zebrafish. In *Neuromethods*. pp. 85–97. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-60761-953-6_7 [Accessed February 27, 2017].
- Braubach, O.R. et al., 2013. Experience-dependent versus experience-independent postembryonic development of distinct groups of zebrafish olfactory glomeruli. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(16), pp.6905–16. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23595749 [Accessed September 24, 2015].
- Braubach, O.R., Fine, A. & Croll, R.P., 2012. Distribution and functional organization of glomeruli in the olfactory bulbs of zebrafish (Danio rerio). *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 520(11), pp.2317–2339. Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/cne.23075 [Accessed September 24, 2015].
- Buck, L. & Axel, R., 1991. A novel multigene family may encode odorant receptors: A molecular basis for odor recognition. *Cell*, 65(1), pp.175–187. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/009286749190418X [Accessed February 22, 2017].
- Burgess, H.A., Schoch, H. & Granato, M., 2010. Distinct Retinal Pathways Drive Spatial Orientation Behaviors in Zebrafish Navigation. *Current Biology*, 20(4), pp.381–386. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960982210000618 [Accessed July 5, 2017].
- Burnham, K.P. & Anderson, D.R., 2002. Information and Likelihood Theory : A Basis for Model Selection and Inference. In K. P. Burnham & D. R. Anderson, eds. *Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information-Theorectic Approach*. New York, NY: Springer New York, pp. 49–97.
- Cachat, J. et al., 2013. Unique and potent effects of acute ibogaine on zebrafish: The developing utility of novel aquatic models for hallucinogenic drug research. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 236(1), pp.258–269. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166432812005670 [Accessed February 24, 2017].

- Carvan, M.J. et al., 2004. Ethanol effects on the developing zebrafish: Neurobehavior and skeletal morphogenesis. In *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*. pp. 757–768.
 Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0892036204000972 [Accessed April 20, 2017].
- Castellano, C., Cestari, V. & Ciamei, A., 2001. NMDA receptors and learning and memory processes. *Curr Drug Targets*, 2(3), p.273–83. Available at: http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/ben/cdt/2001/00000002/00000003/art0 0005 [Accessed March 2, 2017].
- Chacon, D.M. & Luchiari, A.C., 2014. A dose for the wiser is enough: The alcohol benefits for associative learning in zebrafish. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 53, pp.109–115. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0278584614000621 [Accessed March 14, 2017].
- Cognato, G. de P. et al., 2012. Y-Maze memory task in zebrafish (Danio rerio): The role of glutamatergic and cholinergic systems on the acquisition and consolidation periods. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 98(4), pp.321–328. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1074742712001190 [Accessed March 2, 2017].
- Colwill, R.M. et al., 2005. Visual discrimination learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Behavioural Processes*, 70(1), pp.19–31.
- Darland, T. & Dowling, J.E., 2001. Behavioral screening for cocaine sensitivity in mutagenized zebrafish. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 98(20), pp.11691–6. Available at: http://www.pnas.org/content/98/20/11691.short [Accessed February 24, 2017].
- Dix, S. et al., 2010. A within-subject cognitive battery in the rat: Differential effects of NMDA receptor antagonists. *Psychopharmacology*, 212(2), pp.227–242. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00213-010-1945-1 [Accessed March 2, 2017].
- Doty, R.L., 1976. *Mammalian olfaction, reproductive processes, and behavior* First., New York: Academic Press. Available at: https://books.google.ca/books?hl=en&lr=&id=PWwCnplyxYYC&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&d q=olfaction+review+mammals&ots=nOAZT-MbfF&sig=8X4Y29H5U1v8gzvDu1EUKFGJK6Y#v=onepage&q=olfaction review mammals&f=false [Accessed March 3, 2017].

- Doyle, J.M. et al., 2017. A simple automated system for appetitive conditioning of zebrafish in their home tanks. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 317, pp.444–452. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2016.09.044.
- Easter, S.S. & Nicola, G.N., 1996. The development of vision in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Developmental biology*, 180(2), pp.646–663.
- Eddins, D. et al., 2009. Nicotine effects on learning in zebrafish: The role of dopaminergic systems. *Psychopharmacology*, 202(1–3), pp.103–109. Available at: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00213-008-1287-4 [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Engeszer, R.E. et al., 2007. Zebrafish in the wild: a review of natural history and new notes from the field. *Zebrafish*, 4(1), pp.21–40. Available at: http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/abs/10.1089/zeb.2006.9997 [Accessed February 27, 2017].
- Fetsko, L., 2003. What can be learned from a fish: an analysis of visual discrimination in the zebrafish, Danio rerio. Temple University. Available at: http://elibrary.ru/item.asp?id=6709125 [Accessed March 2, 2017].
- Fleisch, V.C. & Neuhauss, S.C.F., 2006. Visual behavior in zebrafish. Zebrafish, 3(2), pp.191–201. Available at: http://www.liebertonline.com/doi/abs/10.1089/zeb.2006.3.191 [Accessed March 9, 2017].
- Fox, J., 2003. Effect Displays in R for Generalised Linear Models. Journal of statistical software, 8(15), pp.1–27. Available at: http://www.jstatsoft.org/v08/i15/paper%5Cnhttp://socserv.socsci.mcmaster.ca/jfo x/Papers/effect-displays-handout.pdf.
- Fox, J. & Weisberg, S., 2011. car: An {R} companion to applied regression, second edition,
- Friedrich, R.W. & Korsching, S.I., 1998. Chemotopic, Combinatorial, and Noncombinatorial Odorant Representations in the Olfactory Bulb Revealed Using a Voltage-Sensitive Axon Tracer. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(23), pp.9977–9988.
- Friedrich, R.W. & Korsching, S.I., 1997. Combinatorial and chemotopic odorant coding in the zebrafish olfactory bulb visualized by optical imaging. *Neuron*, 18(5), pp.737– 752.

- Gerlai, R. et al., 2009. Acute and Chronic alcohol dose : Population differences in behavior and neurochemistry of zebrafish. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 8(6), pp.586–599. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2009.00488.x/full [Accessed February 24, 2017].
- Gerlai, R., 2011. Associative learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). In H. W. Detrich, M. Westerfield, & I. Zon, Leonard, eds. *The Zebrafish: Cellular and Developmental Biology, Part 2*. Boston: Academic Press. Available at: https://books.google.ca/books?hl=en&lr=&id=CbeX_dZUdxwC&oi=fnd&pg=PA249 &dq=associative+learning+in+zebrafish&ots=AnEqpTQSbu&sig=XLQ6o_aeE-CEOsbqRUa8zZ__xLA [Accessed February 27, 2017].

Gerlai, R. et al., 2000. Drinks like a fish: zebrafish (Danio rerio) as a behavior genetic model to study alcohol effects. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior*, 67(2000), pp.773–782. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0091305700004226 [Accessed February 24, 2017].

- Gerlai, R., 2012. Using zebrafish to unravel the genetics of complex brain disorders. *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences*, 12, pp.3–24. Available at: http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/7854_2011_180 [Accessed February 27, 2017].
- Gerlai, R., Fernandes, Y. & Pereira, T., 2009. Zebrafish (Danio rerio) responds to the animated image of a predator: Towards the development of an automated aversive task. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 201(2), pp.318–324. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166432809001491 [Accessed July 5, 2017].

Ghysen, A. & Dambly-Chaudiere, C., 2004. Development of the zebrafish lateral line. *Current opinion in neurobiology*. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959438804000145 [Accessed July 5, 2017].

- Gleason, P.E., Weber, P.G. & Weber, S.P., 1977. Effect of group size on avoidance learning in zebra fish, Brachydanio rerio (Pisces: Cyprinidae). Animal Learning & Behavior, 5(2), pp.213–216. Available at: http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.3758/BF03214081 [Accessed February 27, 2017].
- Goldsmith, P., 2001. Modelling eye diseases in zebrafish. *Neuroreport*, 12(13), pp.A73-7. Available at: http://journals.lww.com/neuroreport/Citation/2001/09170/Modelling_eye_diseas es_in_zebrafish.1.aspx [Accessed July 23, 2017].

- Grossman, L. et al., 2010. Characterization of behavioral and endocrine effects of LSD on zebrafish. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 214(2), pp.277–284. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166432810004134 [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Hamdani, E.H. & Døving, K.B., 2007. The functional organization of the fish olfactory system. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 82(2), pp.80–86.
- Hara, T.J., 1994. Olfaction and gustation in fish: an overview. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica, 152(2), pp.207–217. Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1994.tb09800.x [Accessed March 3, 2017].
- Harden, M. V. et al., 2006. Olfactory imprinting is correlated with changes in gene expression in the olfactory epithelia of the zabrafish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 66(13), pp.1452–1466. Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/neu.20328 [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Hitchcock, P.F. & Raymond, P. a, 2004. The teleost retina as a model for developmental and regeneration biology. *Zebrafish*, 1(3), pp.257–271.
- Hussain, A. et al., 2013. High-affinity olfactory receptor for the death-associated odor cadaverine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110(48), pp.19579–19584. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24218586 [Accessed June 26, 2017].
- Hyman, S.E., Malenka, R.C. & Nestler, E.J., 2006. NEURAL MECHANISMS OF ADDICTION: The Role of Reward-Related Learning and Memory. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 29(1), pp.565–598. Available at: http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.11300 9 [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- Jarrard, L.E., 1993. On the role of the hippocampus in learning and memory in the rat. Behavioral and Neural Biology, 60(1), pp.9–26. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0163104793906644 [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- Jesuthasan, S.J. & Mathuru, A.S., 2008. The Alarm Response in Zebrafish: Innate Fear in a Vertebrate Genetic Model. *Journal of Neurogenetics*, 22(3), pp.211–228. Available at: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01677060802298475 [Accessed February 18, 2017].

- Johansen, J.P. et al., 2011. Molecular mechanisms of fear learning and memory. *Cell*, 147(3), pp.509–524. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0092867411012074 [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- Jones, S. V. et al., 2008. Learning-dependent structural plasticity in the adult olfactory pathway. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 28(49), pp.13106–11. Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/content/28/49/13106.short [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Kalueff, A. V et al., 2013. Towards a comprehensive catalog of zebrafish behavior 1.0 and beyond. *Zebrafish*, 10(1), pp.70–86. Available at: http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/abs/10.1089/zeb.2012.0861 [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Kalueff, A. V, Stewart, A.M. & Gerlai, R., 2014. Zebrafish as an emerging model for studying complex brain disorders. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 35(2), pp.63–75. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165614713002290 [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Karnik, I. & Gerlai, R., 2012. Can zebrafish learn spatial tasks? An empirical analysis of place and single CS-US associative learning. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 233(2), pp.415–421.
- Kim, Y.H. et al., 2010. Scopolamine-induced learning impairment reversed by physostigmine in zebrafish. *Neuroscience Research*, 67(2), pp.156–161. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0168010210000702 [Accessed March 2, 2017].
- Kinney, N.E. & Antill, R.W., 1996. Role of olfaction in the formation of preference for high-fat foods in mice. *Physiology and Behavior*, 59(3), pp.475–478.
- Koide, T. et al., 2009. Olfactory neural circuitry for attraction to amino acids revealed by transposon-mediated gene trap approach in zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(24), pp.9884–9889. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19497864 [Accessed March 5, 2017].

- Kyzar, E. et al., 2012. Effects of the hallucinogenic drugs mescaline, phencyclidine and psilocybin on zebrafish behavior and physiology. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 37(1), pp.197–202. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0278584612000073 [Accessed February 24, 2017].
- Laughlin, S.T. et al., 2008. In Vivo Imaging of Membrane-Associated Glycans in Developing Zebrafish. Science, 320(5876), pp.664–667. Available at: http://science.sciencemag.org/content/320/5876/664.short [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Lawson, N., 2002. In Vivo Imaging of Embryonic Vascular Development Using Transgenic Zebrafish. *Developmental Biology*, 248(2), pp.307–318. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0012160602907116 [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Lee, K.J. et al., 2007. In vivo imaging of transport and biocompatibility of silver nanoparticles in early development of zebrafish embryos. ACS Nano, 1(2), pp.133– 143. Available at: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/nn700048y [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Levin, E.D. et al., 2006. Timing of nicotine effects on learning in zebrafish. *Psychopharmacology*, 184(3–4), pp.547–552. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00213-005-0162-9 [Accessed March 2, 2017].
- Levin, E.D. & Chen, E., 2004. Nicotinic involvement in memory function in zebrafish. In *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*. pp. 731–735.
- Li, J. et al., 2005. Early development of functional spatial maps in the zebrafish olfactory bulb. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 25(24), pp.5784–5795. Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/content/25/24/5784.short [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Lipton, S.A. & Rosenberg, P.A., 1994. Excitatory amino acids as a final common pathway for neurologic disorders. *The New England journal of medicine*, 330(9), pp.613–622. Available at: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJM199403033300907 [Accessed March 5, 2017].

Lockwood, B. et al., 2004. Acute effects of alcohol on larval zebrafish: A genetic system for large-scale screening. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 77(3), pp.647– 654. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0091305704000206 [Accessed February 24, 2017].

- López Patiño, M.A. et al., 2008. Gender differences in zebrafish responses to cocaine withdrawal. *Physiology and Behavior*, 95(1–2), pp.36–47. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0031938408000966 [Accessed February 24, 2017].
- Lüdecke, D., 2015. sjPlot: Data Visualization for Statistics in Social Science. Available at: http://cran.r-project.org/package=sjPlot.
- Margolis, M., 2014. TimeAlarms Library. Available at: https://www.pjrc.com/teensy/td_libs_TimeAlarms.html.
- Margolis, M., 2016. Time library. Available at: https://www.pjrc.com/teensy/td_libs_Time.html.
- Maurice, T., Lockhart, B.P. & Privat, A., 1996. Amnesia induced in mice by centrally administered β-amyloid peptides involves cholinergic dysfunction. *Brain Research*, 706(2), pp.181–193. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0006899395010327 [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- McClelland, J.L., McNaughton, B.L. & O'Reilly, R.C., 1995. Why there are complementary learning systems in the hippocampus and neocortex: Insights from the successes and failures of connectionist models of learning and memory. *Psychological Review*, 102(3), pp.419–457. Available at: http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1995-42327-001 [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- Merovitch, N. et al., 2016. Data on horizontal and vertical movements of zebrafish during appetitive conditioning. *Data in Brief*, 9, pp.758–763. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2352340916306345.
- Merovitch, N.H., 2016. A SIMPLE AUTOMATED SYSTEM FOR APPETITIVE CONDITIONING OF ZEBRAFISH IN THEIR HOME TANKS AND STUDYING UNDERLYING NEURAL ACTIVATION. Dalhousie University.
- Michel, W.C. & Derbidge, D.S., 1997. Evidence of distinct amino acid and bile salt receptors in the olfactory system of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *Brain Research*, 764(1–2), pp.179–187.
- Miklavc, P. & Valentinčič, T., 2012. Chemotopy of amino acids on the olfactory bulb predicts olfactory discrimination capabilities of zebrafish Danio rerio. *Chemical Senses*, 37(1), pp.65–75. Available at: https://academic.oup.com/chemse/articlelookup/doi/10.1093/chemse/bjr066 [Accessed March 10, 2017].

- Mirich, J.M., Illig, K.R. & Brunjes, P.C., 2004. Experience-dependent activation of Extracellular Signal-Related Kinase (ERK) in the olfactory bulb. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 479(2), pp.234–241.
- Miyasaka, N., Knaut, H. & Yoshihara, Y., 2007. Cxcl12/Cxcr4 chemokine signaling is required for placode assembly and sensory axon pathfinding in the zebrafish olfactory system. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, 134(13), pp.2459–68. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17537794.
- Mombaerts, P., 2006. Axonal wiring in the mouse olfactory system. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, 22, pp.713–37. Available at: http://annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.21.012804.093915 [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Moretz, J.A., Martins, E.P. & Robison, B.D., 2007. Behavioral syndromes and the evolution of correlated behavior in zebrafish. *Behavioral Ecology*, 18(3), pp.556–562. Available at: http://beheco.oxfordjournals.org/content/18/3/556.short [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Morin, C. et al., 2013. Active avoidance learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio)-The role of sensory modality and inter-stimulus interval. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 248, pp.141–143. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23603556 [Accessed March 14, 2017].
- Morris, R., 2008. Developments of a water1maze procedure for studying spatial learning in the rat. *Search*, 11, pp.7336–7336. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0165027084900074 [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- Mueller, K.P. & Neuhauss, S.C.F., 2012. Automated visual choice discrimination learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Journal of integrative neuroscience*, 11(1), pp.73–85.
 Available at: http://www.worldscientific.com/doi/abs/10.1142/S0219635212500057 [Accessed March 14, 2017].
- Muto, A. et al., 2013. Real-Time Visualization of Neuronal Activity during Perception. *Current Biology*, 23(4), pp.307–311. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S096098221300002X [Accessed August 11, 2017].

Myhrer, T., 2003. Neurotransmitter systems involved in learning and memory in the rat: A meta-analysis based on studies of four behavioral tasks. *Brain Research Reviews*, 41(2–3), pp.268–287. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165017302002680 [Accessed July 4, 2017].

- Neuhauss, S.C.F., 2003. Behavioral genetic approaches to visual system development and function in zebrafish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 54(1), pp.148–160.
- Neuhauss, S.C.F., 2010. Zebrafish Vision: Structure and Function of the Zebrafish Visual System. In Fish Physiology - Zebrafish: Volume 29. pp. 81–122. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1546509810029031 [Accessed March 9, 2017].
- Newman, M., Ebrahimie, E. & Lardelli, M., 2014. Using the zebrafish model for Alzheimer's disease research. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 5(JUN), p.189. Available at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fgene.2014.00189/abstract [Accessed February 24, 2017].
- Oliva, A.M., Jones, K.R. & Restrepo, D., 2008. Sensory-dependent asymmetry for a urineresponsive olfactory bulb glomerulus. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 510(5), pp.475–483. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/cne.21800/full [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Owen, E.H. et al., 1997. Assessment of learning by the Morris water task and fear conditioning in inbred mouse strains and F1 hybrids: Implications of genetic background for single gene mutations and quantitative trait loci analyses. *Neuroscience*, 80(4), pp.1087–1099. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0306452297001656 [Accessed July 4, 2017].
- Paquet, D., Schmid, B. & Haass, C., 2010. Transgenic zebrafish as a novel animal model to study tauopathies and other neurodegenerative disorders in vivo. In *Neurodegenerative Diseases*. pp. 99–102. Available at: http://www.karger.com/Article/Abstract/285515 [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Patton, E.E. & Zon, L.I., 2002. The art and design of genetic screens: Drosophila melanogaster. *Nature reviews. Genetics*, 3(3), pp.176–88. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11733748 [Accessed February 24, 2017].
- Penberthy, W.T., Shafizadeh, E. & Lin, S., 2002. The zebrafish as a model for human disease. *Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library*, 7, pp.d1439–d1453.
- Pinheiro J et al., 2016. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models.

- Potter, S.M. et al., 2001. Structure and emergence of specific olfactory glomeruli in the mouse. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 21(24), pp.9713–23. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2570017&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Pradel, G., Schachner, M. & Schmidt, R., 1999. Inhibition of memory consolidation by antibodies against cell adhesion molecules after avoidance conditioning in zebrafish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 39(2), pp.197–206. Available at: https://www.scopus.com/record/display.uri?eid=2-s2.0-0032902188&origin=inward&txGid=A67987EE1801412D98566B48CD3389CA.wsnA w8kcdt7IPYLO0V48gA%3A2 [Accessed February 27, 2017].
- R Core Team, 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Available at: https://www.r-project.org/.
- Ramsay, J.M. et al., 2009. Whole-body cortisol response of zebrafish to acute net handling stress. *Aquaculture*, 297(1–4), pp.157–162. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0044848609007455 [Accessed February 27, 2017].
- Randlett, O. et al., 2015. Whole-brain activity mapping onto a zebrafish brain atlas. Nature Methods, 12(11), pp.1039–1046. Available at: https://www.nature.com/nmeth/journal/v12/n11/abs/nmeth.3581.html [Accessed June 26, 2017].
- Richetti, S.K. et al., 2011. Quercetin and rutin prevent scopolamine-induced memory impairment in zebrafish. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 217(1), pp.10–15. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0166432810006637 [Accessed March 2, 2017].
- Risner, M.L. et al., 2006. Behavioral spectral sensitivity of the zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Vision Research*, 46(17), pp.2625–2635. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16564068 [Accessed February 24, 2017].
- Rubinstein, A.L., 2003. Zebrafish: from disease modeling to drug discovery. *Current opinion in drug discovery & development*, 6, pp.218–223.
- Ruhl, T. et al., 2014. Acute administration of THC impairs spatial but not associative memory function in zebrafish. *Psychopharmacology*, 231(19), pp.3829–3842.
 Available at: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00213-014-3522-5 [Accessed June 26, 2017].

- Schaefer, M.L., Finger, T.E. & Restrepo, D., 2001. Variability of position of the P2 glomerulus within a map of the mouse olfactory bulb. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 436(3), pp.351–362. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/cne.1072/full [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Schindelin, J. et al., 2015. The ImageJ ecosystem: An open platform for biomedical image analysis. *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, 82(7–8), pp.518–529.
- Selcher, J.C. et al., 1999. A Necessity for MAP Kinase Activation in Mammalian Spatial Learning. *Learning & Memory*, 6(5), pp.478–490.
- Sievert, C. et al., 2016. Create Interactive Web Graphics via "plotly.js." *Create interactive web graphics via "plotly.js."* Available at: https://cran.r-project.org/package=plotly.
- Sison, M. & Gerlai, R., 2010. Associative learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio) in the plus maze. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 207(1), pp.99–104.
- Sison, M. & Gerlai, R., 2011. Associative learning performance is impaired in zebrafish (Danio rerio) by the NMDA-R antagonist MK-801. *Neurobiology of learning and memory*, 96(2), pp.230–237. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1074742711000906 [Accessed September 24, 2015].
- Speedie, N. & Gerlai, R., 2008. Alarm substance induced behavioral responses in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Behavioural Brain Research*, 188(1), pp.168–177. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166432807005797 [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Spence, R. et al., 2008. The behaviour and ecology of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. Biological Reviews, 83(1), pp.13–34. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00030.x/pdf [Accessed September 18, 2015].
- Stensmyr, M.C. & Maderspacher, F., 2012. Pheromones: Fish fear factor. Current Biology, 22(6), pp.R183–R186. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.02.025.
- Stewart, A.M. et al., 2014. Developing zebrafish models of autism spectrum disorder (ASD). *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 50, pp.27– 36. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0278584613002674 [Accessed June 30, 2017].

- Stoddart, D.M., 1980. The olfactory system of vertebrates. In *The Ecology of Vertebrate* Olfaction. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, pp. 1–33. Available at: http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/978-94-009-5869-2_1 [Accessed March 3, 2017].
- Stujenske, J.M., Dowling, J.E. & Emran, F., 2011. The bugeye mutant zebrafish exhibits visual deficits that arise with the onset of an enlarged eye phenotype. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 52(7), pp.4200–4207. Available at: http://iovs.arvojournals.org/article.aspx?doi=10.1167/iovs.10-6434 [Accessed July 17, 2017].
- Sumbre, G. & de Polavieja, G.G., 2014. The world according to zebrafish: how neural circuits generate behavior. *Frontiers in neural circuits*, 8(5), p.91. Available at: https://books.google.ca/books?hl=en&lr=&id=3eSdBQAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA6&d q=the+world+according+to+zebrafish&ots=jmozoawTV9&sig=Zpo3xCSCIGzUinSOH vS2ZjpqyMY [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Sweatt, J.D., 2010. *Mechanisms of memory* Second., Amsterdam: Academic Press & Elsevier.
- Tran, S. et al., 2016. Interaction between handling induced stress and anxiolytic effects of ethanol in zebrafish: A behavioral and neurochemical analysis. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 298, pp.278–285.
- Traver, D. et al., 2003. Transplantation and in vivo imaging of multilineage engraftment in zebrafish bloodless mutants. *Nature immunology*, 4(12), pp.1238–1246. Available at: http://www.nature.com/ni/journal/v4/n12/abs/ni1007.html [Accessed February 26, 2017].
- Tropepe, V. & Sive, H.L., 2003. Can zebrafish be used as a model to study the neurodevelopmental causes of autism? *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 2(5), pp.268– 281. Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1034/j.1601-183X.2003.00038.x [Accessed June 30, 2017].
- Valentinčič, T. et al., 2005. Correlations between olfactory discrimination, olfactory receptor neuron responses and chemotopy of amino acids in fishes. In *Chemical Senses*. Available at: http://chemse.oxfordjournals.org/content/30/suppl_1/i312.short [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Valentinčič, T. et al., 2000. Olfactory discrimination of amino acids in brown bullhead catfish. *Chem Senses*, 25(1), pp.21–29. Available at: http://chemse.oxfordjournals.org/content/25/1/21.short [Accessed February 18, 2017].

- Valentinčič, T. & Caprio, J., 1994. Consummatory feeding behavior to amino acids in intact and anosmic channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus. *Physiology and Behavior*, 55(5), pp.857–863. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/003193849490071X [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Valentinčič, T., Wegert, S. & Caprio, J., 1994. Learned olfactory discrimination versus innate taste responses to amino acids in channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus). *Physiology and Behavior*, 55(5), pp.865–873.
- White, R.M. et al., 2008. Transparent Adult Zebrafish as a Tool for In Vivo Transplantation Analysis. *Cell Stem Cell*, 2(2), pp.183–189.
- Whitlock, K.E. & Westerfield, M., 1998. A transient population of neurons pioneers the olfactory pathway in the zebrafish. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 18(21), pp.8919–27. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9786997.
- Wickham, H., 2009. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis, New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Williams, F.E., White, D. & Messer, W.S., 2002. A simple spatial alternation task for assessing memory function in zebrafish. *Behavioural Processes*, 58(3), pp.125–132.
- Wolman, M.A. et al., 2011. Chemical modulation of memory formation in larval zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(37), pp.15468–73. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3174630&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract [Accessed September 15, 2015].
- Wyeth, R.C. et al., 2011. Videograms: A method for repeatable unbiased quantitative behavioral analysis without scoring or tracking A. V. Kalueff & J. M. Cachat, eds. *Neuromethods*, 51, pp.15–33.
- Xu, X. et al., 2007. Active avoidance conditioning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Neurobiology* of Learning and Memory, 87(1), pp.72–77.
- Xu, X. & Goetz, S., 2012. Assessing learning and memory through the active avoidance paradigm. In A. V. Kalueff & A. M. Stewart, eds. *Zebrafish Protocols for Neurobehavioral Research*. Springer, pp. 265–272. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-61779-597-8_20 [Accessed March 14, 2017].

- Yang, M. & Crawley, J.N., 2009. Simple Behavioral Asessment of Mouse Olfaction. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience*, Chapter 8, pp.1–14. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19575474 [Accessed February 18, 2017].
- Yu, L. et al., 2006. Cognitive aging in zebrafish. PLoS ONE, 1(1). Available at: http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0000014 [Accessed February 26, 2017].

APPENDIX A: SUPPLEMENTAL MOVIES

Supplemental movies can be accessed from Dalspace (dalspace.library.dal.ca) Supplemental Movie 1: Representative video of acquisition trial 20 for visual conditioning in a control tank. Fish exhibit normal swimming behaviour in the 20 seconds before the presentation of conditioned stimulus. During the 20 second presentation of the conditioned stimulus, green light (bottom of tank), the fish did not exhibit any changes in their swimming behaviour.

Supplemental Movie 2: Representative video of acquisition trial 20 for visual conditioning in an experimental tank. Fish exhibit normal swimming behaviour in the 20 seconds before the presentation of conditioned stimulus. During the 20 second presentation of the conditioned stimulus, green light (bottom of tank), fish moved towards the food source (upper-left corner of the tank) in anticipation of the food reward.

Supplemental Movie 3: Demonstration of odourant delivery to tank during olfactory conditioning. Blue food dye is substituted for phenylethyl alcohol to provide a visual representation of odourant dispersion and how fish encounter areas of high concentration.

80

APPENDIX B: ARDUINO SKETCHES FOR CONDITIONING AND RETENTION

B.1: VISUAL CONDITIONING DAY ONE

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit PWMServoDriver.h"

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();

Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);

#define REDPIN 6 #define GREENPIN 9 #define BLUEPIN 11

void setup() {

Serial.begin(9600);

while (!Serial) ; // wait until Arduino Serial Monitor opens setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,45,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,45,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,45,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,19,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 10:19AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,19,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 10:19:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,19,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:19:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,28,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 11:28AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,28,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 11:28:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,28,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 11:28:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,20,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,20,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,20,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,48,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 13:48PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,48,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 13:48:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,48,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 13:48:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 14:35PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 14:35:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 14:35:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 16:23OM Every Day

```
Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,59,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 17:59PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,59,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 17:59:20PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,59,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 17:59:20PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,10,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 19:10PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,10,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 19:10:20PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,10,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 19:10:20PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,0, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 20:22PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,0, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 20:22:20PM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 20:22:20PM Every Day
```

```
pinMode(REDPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(GREENPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(BLUEPIN, OUTPUT);
```

```
AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield
Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM
```

```
}
```

```
void loop() {
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
}
```

```
void LightOn() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
```

```
}
```

```
void LightOff() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
```

```
}
```

```
void Feeder() {
```

```
Motor->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
Motor->release();
```

```
}
```

B.2: VISUAL CONDITIONING DAY TWO

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();

Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);

#define REDPIN 6 #define GREENPIN 9 #define BLUEPIN 11

void setup() {

Serial.begin(9600);

while (!Serial); // wait until Arduino Serial MOnitor opens setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the functiOn to get the time from the RTC Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,06,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 10:06AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,06,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 10:06:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,06,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:06:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,58,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 10:58AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,58,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 10:58:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,58,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:58:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,46,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 11:46AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,46,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 11:46:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,46,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 11:46:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,34,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 12:34PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,34,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 12:34PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,34,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 12:34PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,54,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 13:54PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,54,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 13:54:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,54,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 13:54:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,38,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 14:38PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,38,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 14:38:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,38,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 14:38:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 15:52PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 15:52:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 15:52:20PM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,42,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 17:42PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,42,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 17:42:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,42,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 17:42:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 19:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 19:20:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 19:20:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 19:20:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 20:06PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 20:06:20PM Every Day

```
pinMode(REDPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(GREENPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(BLUEPIN, OUTPUT);
```

```
AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield
Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM
```

```
}
```

```
void loop() {
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
}
```

```
void LightOn() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
```

```
}
```

```
void LightOff() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
}
```

```
void Feeder() {
    Motor->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
    Motor->release();
```

```
}
```

B.3: VISUAL CONTROL DAY ONE

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();

Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);

#define REDPIN 6 #define GREENPIN 9 #define BLUEPIN 11

void setup() {

Serial.begin(9600);

while (!Serial); // wait until Arduino Serial Monitor opens setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,45,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,45,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,02,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:02:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,19,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 10:19AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,19,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 10:19:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,53,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:52:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,28,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 11:28AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,28,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 11:28:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,54,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 11:54:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,20,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,20,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 12:20:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,02,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 13:02:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,48,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 13:48PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,48,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 13:48:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,11,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 14:11:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 14:35PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 14:35:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,29,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 15:29:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 16:23PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,11,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 17:11:20PM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,59,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 17:59PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,59,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 17:59:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(18,35,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 18:35:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,10,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 19:10PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,10,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 19:10:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,46,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 19:46:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 20:22PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,0, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 20:22:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,0, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 20:22:20PM Every Day

```
pinMode(REDPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(GREENPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(BLUEPIN, OUTPUT);
```

```
AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield
Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM
```

```
}
```

```
void loop() {
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
}
```

```
void LightOn() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
```

```
}
```

```
void LightOff() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
}
```

```
void Feeder() {
    Motor->step(25, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
    Motor->release();
```

```
}
```

B.4: VISUAL CONTROL DAY TWO

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();

Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);

#define REDPIN 6 #define GREENPIN 9 #define BLUEPIN 11

void setup() {

Serial.begin(9600);

while (!Serial); // wait until Arduino Serial Monitor opens setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,06,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 10:06AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,06,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 10:06:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,26,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:26:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,58,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 10:58AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,58,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 10:58:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,22,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 11:22:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,46,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 11:46AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,46,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 11:46:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,10,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 12:10:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,34,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 12:34PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,34,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 12:34PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,14,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 13:14PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,54,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 13:54PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,54,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 13:54:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,16,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 14:16:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,38,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 14:38PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,38,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 14:38:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,15,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 15:15:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 15:52PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 15:52:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,47,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 16:47:20PM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,42,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 17:42PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,42,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 17:42:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(18,31,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 18:31:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 19:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 19:20:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,43,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 19:43:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 20:06PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 20:06:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 20:06:20PM Every Day

```
pinMode(REDPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(GREENPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(BLUEPIN, OUTPUT);
```

```
AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield
Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM
```

```
}
```

```
void loop() {
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
}
```

```
void LightOn() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
```

```
}
```

```
void LightOff() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
}
```

```
void Feeder() {
    Motor->step(25, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
    Motor->release();
```

```
}
```

B.5: VISUAL RETENTION

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();

Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);

#define REDPIN 6 #define GREENPIN 9 #define BLUEPIN 11

void setup() {

```
Serial.begin(9600);
while (!Serial) ; // wait until Arduino Serial MOnitor opens
setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the functiOn to get the time from the RTC
Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,1,0, LightOn); // Set Alarm For 15:1AM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,1,20, LightOff); // Set Alarm For 15:1:20AM Every Day
```

```
pinMode(REDPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(GREENPIN, OUTPUT);
pinMode(BLUEPIN, OUTPUT);
```

```
AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield
Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM
```

```
}
```

```
void loop() {
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
```

```
}
```

```
void LightOn() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 255);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
}
```

```
void LightOff() {
    analogWrite(REDPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(GREENPIN, 0);
    analogWrite(BLUEPIN, 0);
}
```

B.6: OLFACTORY CONDITIONING DAY ONE/ TWO (CONDITIONING & CONTROL)

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield(); Adafruit_StepperMotor *stepper1 = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1); Adafruit_StepperMotor *stepper2 = AFMS.getStepper(200, 2);

void setup() {

pinMode(10, OUTPUT); pinMode(9, OUTPUT); digitalWrite(9, HIGH);

AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield stepper1->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM stepper2->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM

Serial.begin(9600);

while (!Serial) ; // wait until Arduino Serial Monitor opens //setTime(9,59,0,9,31,14); // set time to Wednesday 15:18:00pm April 16 2014 setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC Alarm.alarmRepeat(8,7,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(8,7,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every DayFeeder2 Alarm.alarmRepeat(8,20,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(8,40,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(8,40,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every DayFeeder2 Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,5,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,30,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 10:19AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,30,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 10:19:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,50,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 10:19:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,15,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 11:28AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,15,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 11:28:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,35,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 11:28:20AM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,50,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,50,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,15,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,50,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 13:48PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,50,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 13:48:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,10,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 13:48:20PM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,30,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 14:35PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,30,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 14:35:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,52,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 14:35:20PM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,15,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 16:23OM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,15,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,45,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,5,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 17:59PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,5,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 17:59:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 17:59:20PM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,0,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 19:10PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,0,20, Feeder1); // Set Alarm For 19:10:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,20,0, Feeder2); // Set Alarm For 19:10:20PM Every Day

}

```
void loop() {
```

Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display

}

```
void PumpOn() {
    digitalWrite(10, HIGH);
    digitalWrite(9, LOW);
    delay(100);
    digitalWrite(9, HIGH);
    delay(6900);
    digitalWrite(10, LOW);
```

```
digitalWrite(9, LOW);
delay(100);
digitalWrite(9, HIGH);
}
void Feeder1() {
stepper1->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
stepper1->release();
}
void Feeder2() {
stepper2->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
stepper2->release();
}
```

B.7: WATER ONLY TRIAL

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit PWMServoDriver.h"

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield(); Adafruit_StepperMotor *stepper1 = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1); Adafruit_StepperMotor *stepper2 = AFMS.getStepper(200, 2);

void setup() {

pinMode(10, OUTPUT); pinMode(9, OUTPUT); digitalWrite(9, HIGH);

AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield stepper1->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM stepper2->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM

Serial.begin(9600);

while (!Serial) ; // wait until Arduino Serial Monitor opens //setTime(9,59,0,9,31,14); // set time to Wednesday 15:18:00pm April 16 2014 setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC Alarm.alarmRepeat(8,7,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day

}

```
void loop() {
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
```

}

void PumpOn() {
 digitalWrite(10, HIGH);

```
digitalWrite(9, LOW);
delay(100);
digitalWrite(9, HIGH);
delay(6900);
digitalWrite(10, LOW);
digitalWrite(9, LOW);
delay(100);
digitalWrite(9, HIGH);
}
```

```
void Feeder1() {
  stepper1->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
  stepper1->release();
}
void Feeder2() {
  stepper2->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
  stepper2->release();
```

```
}
```
B.8: OLFACTORY RETENTION

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit PWMServoDriver.h"

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield(); Adafruit_StepperMotor *stepper1 = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1); Adafruit_StepperMotor *stepper2 = AFMS.getStepper(200, 2);

void setup() {

pinMode(10, OUTPUT); pinMode(9, OUTPUT); digitalWrite(9, HIGH);

AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield stepper1->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM stepper2->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM

Serial.begin(9600);

while (!Serial) ; // wait until Arduino Serial Monitor opens //setTime(9,59,0,9,31,14); // set time to Wednesday 15:18:00pm April 16 2014 setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC Alarm.alarmRepeat(8,7,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(8,40,0, PumpOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day

}

void loop() {
 Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display

}

```
void PumpOn() {
    digitalWrite(10, HIGH);
```

```
digitalWrite(9, LOW);
delay(100);
digitalWrite(9, HIGH);
delay(6900);
digitalWrite(10, LOW);
digitalWrite(9, LOW);
delay(100);
digitalWrite(9, HIGH);
}
```

```
void Feeder1() {
  stepper1->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
  stepper1->release();
}
void Feeder2() {
  stepper2->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE, DOUBLE,
INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
  stepper2->release();
```

```
}
```

APPENDIX C: STATISTICAL ANALYSIS FOR VISUAL PARADIGM

C.1: VISUAL ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

Visual dD refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: mod.dfs3: Measure ~ Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Chisq	Chi Df	Pr(>Chisq)
mod.dfs3	7	4051.5	4084.6	-2018.7	4037.5			
mod.dfs5	8	4021.7	4059.6	-2002.8	4005.7	31.755	1	1.749e-08 ***

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['ImerMod'] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Data: dfs

REML criterion at convergence: 4016.5

Scaled residuals:

Min	1Q	Median	3Q	Max
-4.1367	-0.5832	-0.0825	0.5558	4.3496

Random effects:

Groups	Name	Variance	Std.Dev.	Corr
Tank	(Intercept)	1.91916	1.385	
	TrialN	0.01368	0.117	-0.30
Residual		6.00896	2.451	

Number of obs: 839, groups: Tank, 42

Fixed effects:

	Estimate	Std. Error	t value
(Intercept)	0.06524	0.42280	0.154
ConditionE	-0.59856	0.55925	-1.070
TrialN	0.02918	0.03553	0.821
ConditionE:TrialN	0.31596	0.04700	6.723

Correlation of Fixed Effects:

	(Intr)	CndtnE	TrialN
ConditionE	-0.756		
TrialN	-0.532	0.402	
CndtnE:TrlN	0.402	-0.532	-0.756

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure

	Chisq	Df	Pr(>Chisq)
Condition	8.7433	1	0.003107 **
TrialN	81.3192	1	< 2.2e-16 ***
Condition:TrialN	45.1943	1	1.784e-11 ***

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

C.2: VISUAL ACQUISITION - LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL - VERTICAL MOVEMENT

Visual dY refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: mod.dfs3: Measure ~ Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Chisq	Chi Df	Pr(>Chisq)
mod.dfs3	7	3656.8	3690.0	-1821.4	3642.8			
mod.dfs5	8	3630.6	3668.5	-1807.3	3614.6	28.233	1	1.076e-07 ***

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 '' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['ImerMod'] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Data: dfs

REML criterion at convergence: 3626.1

Scaled residuals:

Min	1Q	Median	3Q	Max
-3.6004	-0.5462	-0.0139	0.5338	3.4332

Random effects:

Groups	Name	Variance	Std.Dev.	Corr
Tank	(Intercept)	3.09189	1.7584	
	TrialN	0.01066	0.1033	-0.58
Residual		3.65380	1.9115	

Number of obs: 839, groups: Tank, 42

Fixed effects:

	Estimate	Std. Error	t value
(Intercept)	0.51428	0.46437	1.107
ConditionE	-0.04497	0.61426	-0.073
TrialN	0.01759	0.02996	0.587
ConditionE:TrialN	0.24541	0.03963	6.192

Correlation of Fixed Effects:

	(Intr)	CndtnE	TrialN
ConditionE	-0.756		
TrialN	-0.650	0.491	
CndtnE:TrlN	0.491	-0.650	-0.756

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure

	Chisq	Df	Pr(>Chisq)
Condition	26.977	1	2.058e-07 ***
TrialN	64.756	1	8.477e-16 ***
Condition:TrialN	38.342	1	5.937e-10 ***

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

C.3: VISUAL ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT

Visual dX

refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML)

Data: dfs

Models:

mod.dfs3: Measure ~ Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Chisq	Chi Df	Pr(>Chisq)
mod.dfs3	7	3962.8	3995.9	-1974.4	3948.8			
mod.dfs5	8	3949.0	3986.9	-1966.5	3933.0	15.798	1	7.048e-05 ***

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['ImerMod'] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

Data: dfs

REML criterion at convergence: 3943.8

Scaled residuals:

Min	1Q	Median	3Q	Max
-3.8945	-0.5757	-0.0350	0.5641	4.6594

Random effects:

Groups	Name	Variance	Std.Dev.	Corr			
Tank	(Intercept)	1.92618	1.3879				
	TrialN	0.01671	0.1292	-0.38			
Residual		5.45141	2.3348				

Number of obs: 839, groups: Tank, 42

Fixed effects:

	Estimate	Std. Error	t value
(Intercept)	-0.35632	0.41528	-0.858
ConditionE	-0.65661	0.54930	-1.195
TrialN	0.02411	0.03720	0.648
ConditionE:TrialN	0.21030	0.04921	4.274

Correlation of Fixed Effects:

	(Intr)	CndtnE	TrialN
ConditionE	-0.756		
TrialN	-0.555	0.420	
CndtnE:TrlN	0.420	-0.555	-0.756

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure

	Chisq	Df	Pr(>Chisq)
Condition	2.0013	1	0.1572
TrialN	35.1094	1	3.117e-09 ***
Condition:TrialN	18.2659	1	1.921e-05 ***
	•		

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

C.4: VISUAL GROUP RETENTION - TWO-WAY ANOVA - MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

> # aov independent samples tests

VISUAL

> varname="dD"	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
Condition	1	125.72	125.72	16.476	0.000613 ***
DayN	1	9.87	9.87	1.294	0.268787
Condition:DayN	1	17.50	17.50	2.294	0.145531
Residuals	20	152.60	7.63		

C.5: VISUAL GROUP RETENTION - TWO-WAY ANOVA - VERTICAL MOVEMENT

> varname="dY"	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
Condition	1	109.74	109.74	32.436	1.42e-05 ***
DayN	1	10.61	10.61	3.137	0.0918.
Condition:DayN	1	2.11	2.11	0.623	0.4393
Residuals	20	67.66	3.38		

C.6: VISUAL GROUP RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT

> varname="dX"	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
Condition	1	40.75	40.75	4.936	0.0380 *
DayN	1	40.10	40.10	4.858	0.0394 *
Condition:DayN	1	18.29	18.29	2.216	0.1522
Residuals	20	165.10	8.25		

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

C.7: VISUAL INDIVIDUAL RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

varname="dD"	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
Condition	1	46.9	46.85	1.751	0.189
DayN	4	142.2	35.55	1.329	0.266
Condition:DayN	4	66.4	16.60	0.620	0.649
Residuals	82	2194.4	26.76		

C.8: VISUAL INDIVIDUAL RETENTION - TWO-WAY ANOVA - VERTICAL MOVEMENT

varname="dY"	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
Condition	1	88.6	88.61	6.639	0.0118 *
DayN	4	78.9	19.73	1.478	0.2163
Condition:DayN	4	15.4	3.85	0.289	0.8845
Residuals	82	1094.5	13.35		

varname="dX"	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
Condition	1	8.2	8.232	0.315	0.576
DayN	4	111.5	27.887	1.067	0.378
Condition:DayN	4	56.4	14.102	0.539	0.707
Residuals	82	2143.9	26.145		

C.9 : VISUAL INDIVIDUAL RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

APPENDIX D: STASTISTICAL ANALYSIS FOR OLFACTORY PARADIGM

D.1: OLFACTORY ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

Olfactory dD refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: Mod.dfs3: Measure ~ Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Chisq	Chi Df	Pr(>Chisq)
mod.dfs3	7	4331.9	4370.2	-2158.9	4317.9			
mod.dfs5	8	4331.9	4375.7	-2158.0	4315.9	1.9669	1	0.1608

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 '' 1

Linear mixed model fit by REML t-tests use

Satterthwaite approximations to degrees of freedom [ImerMod] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Data: dfs

REML criterion at convergence: 4342.3

Scaled residuals:

Min	1Q	Median	3Q	Max
-8.6836	-0.4021	-0.0906	0.2646	7.7377

Random effects:

Groups	Name	Variance	Std.Dev.	Corr
Tank	(Intercept)	0.1002759	0.31666	
	TrialN	0.0007043	0.02654	-0.77
Residual		0.6457511	0.80359	

Number of obs: 1760, groups: Tank, 44

Fixed effects:

	Estimate	Std. Error	df	t value	Pr(> t)
(Intercept)	2.028e-01	7.380e-02	8.510e+01	2.748	0.00732 **
ConditionE	2.131e-03	7.959e-02	1.670e+03	0.027	0.97865
TrialN	4.687e-05	6.171e-03	8.490e+01	0.008	0.99396
ConditionE:TrialN	9.315e-03	6.644e-03	1.670e+03	1.402	0.16109

---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

Correlation of Fixed Effects:

	(Intr)	CndtnE	TrialN
ConditionE	-0.539		
TrialN	-0.833	0.472	
CndtnE:TrlN	0.473	-0.877	-0.538

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure

	Chisq	Df	Pr(>Chisq)
Condition	6.8049	1	0.009091 **
TrialN	0.8184	1	0.365656
Condition:TrialN	1.9657	1	0.160905

Signif. codes:

0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

D.2: OLFACTORY ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – VERTICAL MOVEMENT

Olfactory dY refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: Mod.dfs.3: Measure ~ Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

Mod.dfs.5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Chisq	Chi Df	Pr(>Chisq)
Mod.dfs3	7	3639.9	3678.2	-1813.0	3625.9			
Mod.dfs5	8	3635.5	3679.3	-1809.8	3619.5	6.3594	1	0.01168 *

Signif. codes:

0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

Linear mixed model fit by REML t-tests use Satterthwaite approximations to degrees of freedom [ImerMod] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

Data: dfs

REML criterion at convergence: 3648.4

Scaled residuals:

Min	1Q	Median	3Q	Max
-6.3024	-0.3322	0.0484	0.3439	7.8136

Random effects:

Groups	Name	Variance	Std.Dev.	Corr
Tank	(Intercept)	4.032e-03	0.06350	
	TrialN	6.512e-05	0.00807	1.00
Residual		4.458e-01	0.66770	

Number of obs: 1760, groups: Tank, 44

Fixed effects:

	Estimate	Std. Error	df	t value	Pr(> t)
(Intercept)	8.324e-02	4.773e-02	5.523e+02	1.744	0.08173
ConditionE	-1.932e-01	6.613e-02	1.713e+03	-2.922	0.00353 **
TrialN	5.728e-03	4.089e-03	3.093e+02	1.401	0.16222
ConditionE:TrialN	-1.392e-02	5.520e-03	1.713e+03	-2.522	0.01176 *

Signif. codes:

0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

Correlation of Fixed Effects:

	(Intr)	CndtnE	TrialN
ConditionE	-0.693		
TrialN	-0.760	0.592	
CndtnE:TrlN	0.607	-0.877	-0.675

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure

	Chisq	Df	Pr(>Chisq)
Condition	113.6815	1	< 2e-16 ***
TrialN	0.1670	1	0.68278
Condition:TrialN	6.3601	1	0.01167 *

Signif. codes:

0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

D.3: OLFACTORY ACQUISITION – LINEAR MIXED EFFECTS MODEL – HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT

Olfactory dX (Unbinned)

refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML)

Data: dfs

Models:

mod.dfs3: Measure ~ Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Chisq	Chi Df	Pr(>Chisq)
mod.dfs3	7	4798.0	4836.3	-2392.0	4784.0			
Mod.dfs5	8	4794.4	4838.2	-2389.2	4778.4	5.5545	1	0.01843 *

Signif. codes:

0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

Linear mixed model fit by REML t-tests use

Satterthwaite approximations to degrees of freedom [ImerMod]

Formula:

Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)

Data: dfs

REML criterion at convergence: 4804.6

Scaled residuals:

Min	1Q	Median	3Q	Max
-7.7465	-0.2798	0.0646	0.3499	7.4203

Random effects:

Groups	Name	Variance	Std.Dev.	Corr
Tank	(Intercept)	0.0512245	0.22633	
	TrialN	0.0002735	0.01654	-0.65
Residual		0.8596503	0.92717	

Number of obs: 1760, groups: Tank, 44

Fixed effects:

	Estimate	Std. Error	df	t value	Pr(> t)
(Intercept)	-2.328e-01	7.335e-02	1.150e+02	-3.173	0.00193 **
ConditionE	6.259e-02	9.183e-02	1.670e+03	0.682	0.49560
TrialN	7.882e-03	5.966e-03	1.231e+02	1.321	0.18889
ConditionE:TrialN	-1.807e-02	7.665e-03	1.670e+03	-2.357	0.01852 *

Signif. codes:

0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

Correlation of Fixed Effects:

	(Intr)	CndtnE	TrialN
ConditionE	-0.626		
TrialN	-0.832	0.563	
CndtnE:TrlN	0.549	-0.877	-0.642

> print(Anova(mod.dfs5))

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure

	Chisq	Df	Pr(>Chisq)
Condition	8.2748	1	0.00402 **
TrialN	0.0636	1	0.80097
Condition:TrialN	5.5570	1	0.01841 *

Signif. codes:

0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

D.4: OLFACTORY WATER TRIAL – T-TEST – MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

Table Analyzed	Water Trial - dD
Column B	Experimental
VS.	VS.
Column A	Control
Unpaired t test	
P value	0.1637
P value summary	ns
Significantly different (P < 0.05)?	No
One- or two-tailed P value?	Two-tailed
t, df	t=1.405 df=86
How big is the difference?	
Mean ± SEM of column A	0.3189 ± 0.09996, n=44
Mean ± SEM of column B	0.1075 ± 0.1124, n=44
Difference between means	-0.2114 ± 0.1505
95% confidence interval	-0.5105 to 0.08773
R squared (eta squared)	0.02243
F test to compare variances	
F, DFn, Dfd	1.265, 43, 43
P value	0.4433
P value summary	ns
Significantly different (P < 0.05)?	No

D.5: OLFACTORY WATER TRIAL – T-TEST – VERTICAL MOVEMENT

Table Analyzed	Water Trial - dY
Column B	Experimental
VS.	VS.
Column A	Control
Unpaired t test	
P value	0.9587
P value summary	ns
Significantly different (P < 0.05)?	No
One- or two-tailed P value?	Two-tailed
t, df	t=0.0519 df=86
How big is the difference?	
Mean ± SEM of column A	0.05484 ± 0.09354, n=44
Mean ± SEM of column B	0.04855 ± 0.07713, n=44
Difference between means	-0.006292 ± 0.1212
95% confidence interval	-0.2473 to 0.2347
R squared (eta squared)	3.132e-005
F test to compare variances	
F, DFn, Dfd	1.471, 43, 43
P value	0.2100
P value summary	ns
Significantly different (P < 0.05)?	No

D	.6: OLFACTORY WATER TRIAL – T-T	EST – HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT
	Table Analyzed	Water Trial - dX
	Column B	Experimental

Column B	Experimental
VS.	vs.
Column A	Control
Unpaired t test	
P value	0.0441
P value summary	*
Significantly different (P < 0.05)?	Yes
One- or two-tailed P value?	Two-tailed
t, df	t=2.043 df=86
How big is the difference?	
Mean ± SEM of column A	0.4891 ± 0.1495, n=44
Mean ± SEM of column B	0.07982 ± 0.1333, n=44
Difference between means	-0.4092 ± 0.2003
95% confidence interval	-0.8074 to -0.01108
R squared (eta squared)	0.0463
F test to compare variances	
F, DFn, Dfd	1.258, 43, 43
P value	0.4548
P value summary	ns
Significantly different (P < 0.05)?	No

D.7: OLFACTORY GROUP RETENTION – TWO-WAY ANOVA – MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

Table Analyzed	Retention -				
	dD				
Two-way ANOVA	Ordinary				
Alpha	0.05				
Source of Variation	% of total	Р	P value	Significant?	
	variation	value	summary		
Interaction	0.8343	0.4195	ns	No	
Retention Day	5.448	0.0415	*	Yes	
Condition	0.3467	0.6023	ns	No	
ANOVA table	SS (Type III)	DF	MS	F (DFn, DFd)	P value
Interaction	0.869	1	0.869	F (1, 74) = 0.6591	P=0.4195
Retention Day	5.675	1	5.675	F (1, 74) = 4.304	P=0.0415
Condition	0.3612	1	0.3612	F (1, 74) = 0.2739	P=0.6023
Residual	97.57	74	1.318		
Number of missing	34				
values					

Table Analyzed	Retention - dY				
Two-way ANOVA	Ordinary				
Alpha	0.05				
Source of Variation	% of total	Р	P value	Significant?	
	variation	value	summary		
Interaction	0.8773	0.4108	ns	No	
Retention Day	4.185	0.0749	ns	No	
Condition	0 04148	0 8578	ns	No	
oonantion	0.04140	0.0010	19	110	
ANOVA table	SS (Type III)	DF	MS	F (DFn, DFd)	P value
ANOVA table Interaction	SS (Type III) 0.7126	DF	0.7126	F (DFn, DFd) F (1, 74) = 0.6842	P value P=0.4108
ANOVA table Interaction Retention Day	0.7126 0.7126 3.399	DF 1	0.7126 3.399	F (DFn, DFd) F (1, 74) = 0.6842 F (1, 74) = 3.263	P value P=0.4108 P=0.0749
ANOVA table Interaction Retention Day Condition	0.34140 SS (Type III) 0.7126 3.399 0.03369	DF 1 1	MS 0.7126 3.399 0.03369	F (DFn, DFd) F (1, 74) = 0.6842 F (1, 74) = 3.263 F (1, 74) =	P value P=0.4108 P=0.0749 P=0.8578
ANOVA table Interaction Retention Day Condition	0.04140 SS (Type III) 0.7126 3.399 0.03369	0.0010 DF 1 1 1	MS 0.7126 3.399 0.03369	F (DFn, DFd) F (1, 74) = 0.6842 F (1, 74) = 3.263 F (1, 74) = 0.03235	P value P=0.4108 P=0.0749 P=0.8578
ANOVA table Interaction Retention Day Condition Residual	0.07140 SS (Type III) 0.7126 3.399 0.03369 77.08	0.0070 DF 1 1 1 74	MS 0.7126 3.399 0.03369 1.042	F (DFn, DFd) F (1, 74) = 0.6842 F (1, 74) = 3.263 F (1, 74) = 0.03235	P value P=0.4108 P=0.0749 P=0.8578
ANOVA table Interaction Retention Day Condition Residual Number of missing	0.331140 SS (Type III) 0.7126 3.399 0.03369 77.08 34	0.0070 DF 1 1 1 74	MS 0.7126 3.399 0.03369 1.042	F (DFn, DFd) F (1, 74) = 0.6842 F (1, 74) = 3.263 F (1, 74) = 0.03235	P value P=0.4108 P=0.0749 P=0.8578

D.8: OLFACTORY GROUP RETENTION -TWO-WAY ANOVA - VERTICAL MOVEMENT

D.9: OLFACTORY GROUP RETENTION - TWO-WAY ANOVA - HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT

Table Analyzed	Retention -				
	dX				
Two-way ANOVA	Ordinary				
Alpha	0.05				
Source of	% of total	Р	P value	Significant?	
Variation	variation	value	summary		
Interaction	0.3584	0.6035	ns	No	
Retention Day	2.149	0.2056	ns	No	
Condition	0.07435	0.8129	ns	No	
ANOVA table	SS (Type III)	DF	MS	F (DFn, DFd)	P value
Interaction	0.5088	1	0.5088	F (1, 74) = 0.2721	P=0.6035
Retention Day	3.05	1	3.05	F (1, 74) = 1.631	P=0.2056
Condition	0.1056	1	0.1056	F (1, 74) =	P=0.8129
				0.05644	
Residual	138.4	74	1.87		
Number of	34				
missing values					

APPENDIX E: DILUTION CALCULATION

Assuming the solution remains well-mixed, the form of the differential equation is:

 $C(t) = C_i e^{(-t/T)}$

Concentration (C) as a function of time (t) is equal to initial concentration (C_i) times Euler's number (e) to the power of negative time over a time constant (T).

Known:

$$C_i = 1.05 * 10^{-7} M$$

V = 3 L

Q = -14 L/hr

Initial rate of solute loss is:

Q * Co = $-14 \text{ L/hr} * 1.05 \times 10^{-7} \text{ M} = -1.47 \times 10^{-6} \text{ mol/hr}$

Such that the initial rate of change of concentration is:

Q * Co / V = $-1.47 * 10^{-6}$ mol/hr / 3L = $-4.9 * 10^{-7}$ M/hr

This is equal to C'(0), or dC/dt at t=0, where dC/dt may be found using calculus:

$$dC/dt = -Co/T e^{(-t/T)}$$

Such that:

 $C'(0) = -Co/T = -4.9*10^{-7} M/hr$

 $T = 1.05*10-7 / 4.9*10^{-7} M/hr = 0.2143 hr$

OR

T = 12.86 minutes

OR

T = 771.4 seconds

Concentration at any time is therefore given by:

 $C(t) = 1.05*10^{-7} \text{ M} * e^{(-t/0.2143 \text{ hr})}$

The concentration decreases by a factor of *e* (2.718) every ~13 minutes.

Concentration will halve after $-\ln(0.5)$ *T = 0.69*12.86 = ~9 minutes.

Concentration will be below 1% of initial by $-\ln(0.01)T = \sim 1$ hour.

APPENDIX F: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 17, 2017

This Agreement between Ms. Jillian Doyle ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4151280942950
License date	Jul 17, 2017
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Behavioural Brain Research
Licensed Content Title	A simple automated system for appetitive
	conditioning of zebrafish in their home tanks
Licensed Content Author	Jillian M. Doyle, Neil Merovitch, Russell C. Wyeth,
	Matthew R. Stoyek, Michael Schmidt, Florentin
	Wilfart, Alan Fine, Roger P. Croll
Licensed Content Date	Jan 15, 2017
Licensed Content Volume	317
Licensed Content Issue	n/a
Licensed Content Pages	9
Start Page	444
End Page	452
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article

Format	electronic
Are you the author of this	
Elsevier article?	Yes
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	
Title of your	
thesis/dissertation	Appetitive Learning Paradigm for Zebrafish (Danio
	rerio) in their Home Tanks Utilising Visual or
	Olfactory Cues
Expected completion date	Aug 2017
Estimated size (number of	
pages)	120
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Requestor Location	Ms. Jillian Doyle
	5850 College St
	Halifax, NS B3H4R2
	Canada
	Attn: Ms. Jillian Doyle
Total	0.00 CAD

Terms and Conditions

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that

you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com). No modifications can be made to any Lancet figures/tables and they must be reproduced in full.

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.
 7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf). 13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions, these terms and conditions, these terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. **Translation:** This permission is granted for non-exclusive world <u>English</u> rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website:** The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hypertext must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only.

You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Preprints:

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peer-reviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage.

Accepted Author Manuscripts: An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

- immediately
 - via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
 - o by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
 - via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
 - directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
 - for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- After the embargo period
 - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
 - o via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal article.

Published journal article (JPA): A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

<u>Subscription Articles</u>: If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version.

Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes.

<u>Gold Open Access Articles:</u> May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository.

19. **Thesis/Dissertation:** If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for Proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our <u>open access license policy</u> for more information.

Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier: Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated.

The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder.

Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license: CC BY: The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

CC BY NC SA: The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0.

CC BY NC ND: The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0.

Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee. Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access
- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

20. Other Conditions:

v1.9

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.